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Wednesday, January 16, 2008

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning.  Today is the third day of the hearing of Phase I of EB-2007-0707.  The Ontario Energy Board is sitting to determine the issues for the review of the Integrated Power System Plan.  This list will determine which issues will be addressed in the subsequent review of the application in Phase II.


We are continuing with our schedule of oral submissions.  If you don't have a copy of the schedule, Board Staff would be happy to give you one.  


Is there anyone present who didn't register an appearance earlier and wishes to do so today? 


MS. McLAUGHLIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel.  Just a change of appearance.  My name is Erin McLaughlin.  I'm an articling student with Klippensteins and here on behalf of Pollution Probe this morning.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. McLaughlin.  Are there any preliminary matters before we begin? 

PRELIMINARY MATTERS: 


MS. McLAUGHLIN:  Again, on behalf of Pollution Probe, I have some changes to the transcript, if now is an appropriate time to do that.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, let's take those, Ms. McLaughlin. 


MS. McLAUGHLIN:  First, "forecast pricing" should be changed to "full-cost pricing".


MS. NOWINA:  You need to give us the page- and line-number reference.


MS. McLAUGHLIN:  Sure.  That's on page 78, lines 9, 13, and 19, as well as on page 79, lines 2, 12, and 14.


Second --


MS. JANES:  I'm not as fast as you are.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe you can give us the change again, please.


MS. JANES:  And the page number.


MS. McLAUGHLIN:  Sure.  So starting on page 78...


MS. NOWINA:  At line...?


MS. McLAUGHLIN:  Line 9 first.  "Forecast pricing" should be changed to "full-cost pricing".  And that's also found on lines 13 and 19 of page 78, and on page 79, at lines 2, 12, and 14.


And then moving to page 81, "dispatchables" on line 19 should be changed to "dispatch rules", and again on page 82, lines 19 -- sorry, lines 9 and 20.


On page 84, line 11, the word "is" should be deleted.


Page 85, line 17, the word "run" should be deleted.


And, finally, on page 19 -- or, sorry, page 85, line 19, the word "have" should be replaced with the word "of". And that's everything.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much.  Are there any other preliminary matters?  Hearing none, I think our first submission is Power Workers' Union.  Mr. Stephenson.

 
SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEPHENSON:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  It's my privilege to appear here today on behalf of the approximately 15,000 members of the Power Workers' Union.  As you probably know, the Power Workers' Union represents the majority of employees working today in most aspects of the integrated electricity system in Ontario, not only at the former -- or the successor companies to Ontario Hydro, but numerous other transmitters, distributors, generators, and other players within the electricity system in Ontario.


In that capacity, they have a keen interest in the matters that will be dealt with by the Board in this proceeding.  We've been active participants essentially at every stage of the proceeding to date, and intend to be an active participant as this matter proceeds.


In terms of my presentation this morning, I think I will likely refer to four documents.  And just to let you know what those would be, the first is the Minister's Directive.  The second is the OEB's report regarding the review of the IPSP.  The third is the OPA's Revised Issues List, and the fourth is the PWU's prefiled submission regarding this matter.


In terms of -- by way of starting, on behalf of my client, we want to commend the OPA on its Revised Issues List.  From our perspective it is an excellent effort, and from our perspective it is a vast improvement on version 1. And, frankly, if we had gotten version 2 first, our approach to our submissions may well have been significantly different.  


That being said, we've got what we've got now, and we're thankful for it.


From our perspective, the difference between the approach that the OPA has taken to its Issues List and the approach that the PWU has taken to its proposed Issues List is fundamentally, really, a question of the level of detail, and I'm going to speak a little more about that later.


But, first, I thought it would be useful to indicate to you from the PWU's perspective what it is that we view as what the Board has to decide at this stage of the proceeding and what it doesn't have to decide at this stage of the proceeding. 


Clearly, from -- what you do have to decide is what is on the list and what is not on the list, and then, secondarily, how general or specific you want the list to be.


What you don't have to decide -- and there has been, on my cursory review of the transcript, some significant submissions in this respect -- is that you do not have to decide what the standard of review the Board will be applying when it is reviewing the IPSP on its merit. 


The OPA has made some submissions in its pre-filed evidence regarding that issue, and a variety of other parties have made some submissions to you in this stage of the proceeding. 


That will be an important question for you to determine prior to concluding your review of the substance of the IPSP, and my client will have some views about that matter and certainly some submissions to make about that matter. Our views are not the same as the OPA's.  They're different than probably other things you've heard, as well.  


But this is not the point -- the stage of the proceeding where you have to engage in that determination whatsoever.  What you are here deciding is scope, not standard of review. What level of deference, if any, the OPA is entitled to is an important question, but it is not relevant to this question.


The second thing that I -- in our submission, the Board does not have to determine at this stage of the proceeding is what interpretation it is going to place, as a matter of law, on the terms "economically prudent" and cost-effective".  Clearly that is the standard that the legislature has called upon you to apply in your review of the IPSP, and certainly from our perspective, we acknowledge that it is not an open-ended standard.  You must give meaning to those words.


However, from our perspective, it is not necessary for you at this time to make any final determination as to the precise meaning you are going to place on those words.  You will have to do so prior to the end of the proceeding on the merits.  You do not have to do so today.


It may well be that, from your perspective, you exclude some proposed areas from the Issues List at this stage because you say under no conceivable interpretation could that fall within that standard.


But it is inevitable that that issue is going to come up as this matter is reviewed on its merits, and the proper time to do that is when you have a full factual context to do so.  In our submission, it's inappropriate for you to do so at this stage of the game in the abstract, and it's simply not necessary.


Moving on from there, the PWU agrees with the OPA that, for the purposes of this hearing, the Board must take the Minister's Directive as a given.  That is the scheme that the Legislature demanded when it drafted the legislation.  You and everyone else are bound by that legislation, and the Board must respect it, as must all of us.


As I've said to you earlier, from our perspective, the fundamental difference between the OPA's list and the PWU's list at this stage is really a question of a level of detail.


On my review, having reviewed the OPA's list and having heard Mr. Vegh on Monday, I am satisfied that essentially the entirety of the PWU's list is captured in the OPA's list, and, to the extent that there's a debate about that, that debate can be had later on.  But from my perspective, I am confident that it is captured, subject to some specific items that Mr. Vegh addressed and which I will address later.  But from my perspective, theirs is a more generic list; the PWU's is a more specific list.


I acknowledge, completely, that there is no single correct answer about what is the appropriate level of detail that should be on the list.  The advantages and disadvantages of more or less detail are self-evident, and I don't have any unique wisdom to provide to you about that.


Obviously, the more detail there is, to some degree that provides more guidance to everybody.  Arguably, it could create problems down the road, in terms of people arguing that the level of detail has implicitly excluded something else.  I understand all of that.


From my perspective, I think the greater degree of detail is useful to everybody.  And I don't say that to be mischievous and I don't say that to try to expand the scope.  I just think it's helpful, and I wish I could be more erudite and more helpful than that, but I just think it provides some useful guidance.


And, ultimately, the Board just has to determine what it thinks would be of most assistance to itself, to the OPA, and everybody else.


There will be inevitably debates down the road, and you have to anticipate what will be best now to deal with those later.


The OPA's criticism of the PWU's approach was that it, in effect, substituted the Board's determination in its report, in terms of the filing guidelines for the Directives.  And from our perspective, I think that criticism is unfair.  It's not unfair -- it's unfair to the PWU, but mostly it's unfair to the Board.  And the reason it's unfair to the Board is that, at the time the Board wrote its report, of course, the Board not only had the Directives and the legislation; they were acutely aware of the content of the Directives and the legislation.  They refer to it explicitly and repeatedly in their report.


The Board was acutely aware of the limits on its jurisdiction, and it says so in the report.  And we understand that when the Board explicitly said, in reference to filing guidelines, that, None of this is binding, we want it to help, ultimately the Panel hearing the case will determine these issues, but, from our perspective, our approach was that the Board knows the limits of its jurisdiction.  The Board said to the OPA that, We expect you to file these sorts of things, a certain list of things.


The Board could not have, in my view, been telling the OPA, We know we don't have jurisdiction to determine these things when we're reviewing the IPSP, but we want you to file information about it, anyway.  


I mean, in a way, it's confounding to me that the OPA would suggest that the Board didn't take a thoughtful approach as to the limits of its jurisdiction and the scope of its review when it came to its filing guidelines.


The Board surely had in its mind precisely the thought processes it thought it would have to undertake in exercising its jurisdiction, and said to the OPA, This is what we need in order to exercise our jurisdiction, not in order to exercise some jurisdiction we don't have.  It's to exercise the jurisdiction we do have.


So, in coming up with the PWU's list, it's not a work of great originality.  It is a work whereby we took the filing guidelines, and then put some prefatory words on.  It creates along list, but so did the source document.


So, from our perspective, we think the approach is entirely consistent not only with the Directives, but with the Board's own interpretation of its mandate pursuant to the Directives.  So, at the end of the day, the real question is we know it's not binding on you, it's not binding on the OPA.  The Board says that.  


The real question is:  What is the persuasive weight that you should give to the Board's own report, in terms of what the Board considered to be within its mandate?


And from our perspective, there's no reason not to give it considerable weight, and, really, it seems to me the question becomes:  Has anybody given you a reason, a thoughtful, cogent, compelling reason, to take a different approach?  And, in our submission, the answer to that is no.


Now, one of the criticisms that the OPA makes to you about the use of the filing guidelines and the PWU's approach is that it doesn't expressly deal with the questions the Board ultimately has to answer in reaching a determination on the case.  


I have a couple of comments about that.  One, framing the Issues List in terms of the questions that the Board has to answer, the OPA's a rather new arrivee at that approach in this piece, to be fair.  Their first Issues List didn't take that approach; their second one does, and that's fair.  But the second point is, at the end of the day, that's just a level-of-detail question, too.  



There is really only one question the Board ultimately has to answer in the case, and that is:  Will it approve the IPSP or not?  If you want to get serious about the questions the Board has to answer, there is only one, but we all know that that question unpacks into a series of sub-questions, and the OPA has identified those sub-questions.  


But by the same token, you can take the OPA's sub-questions and unpack those into another series of sub-questions, because this is a building-up exercise.  The correctness of each decision, as you move up, up the chain, will depend upon your view of sub-questions that were determined lower down.


And so I view that issue as simply a level-of-detail question as well.  I agree that the questions asked by the OPA in its list are questions that ultimately have to be answered.  I agree with that view.  But I also say that there are sub-questions that are equally validly and necessarily answered.


I just want to make a couple of comments about issues that Mr. Vegh raised specifically regarding the PWU's submissions.  One was in relation to the issue of the meaning that the Board should place on the word "replace" in the context of the issue regarding coal replacement, and this was in relation to PWU Issue 11, which is an issue that dealt with certain practical factors that affect the operation of the coal plants until they are replaced.


And if you go to -- I think the most convenient place to see that is actually in the OPA's PowerPoint from Monday.  And it appears on slide -- page 25.  And they have quoted the PWU's list, issue, and it is:

"Does the OPA adequately address practical factors that affect the operation of coal-fired generation units until they are replaced (e.g., supply-chain issues, unit operability to respond to system requirements, staffing, and community impacts."


And they say, Well, this is not about replacement, and the issue for the Board is about replacement.  And with all due respect to the OPA, we disagree with that analysis, and I think it's important to look back at the Directive.  And the Directive is appendix B to the Staff report.


And the Directive, with respect to coal-fired generation, isn't just replacement, of course, but there's more.  It says:

"Plan for coal-fired generation in Ontario to be replaced by cleaner sources..."


Now, if that's all it said, then I would agree with Mr. Vegh's submissions, but it doesn't say that.  It carries on:

"...in the earliest practical time frame, that ensures adequate generating capacity and electrical-system reliability in Ontario."


And you can't just follow part of the Directive.  You have to do all of the Directive, it seems to me.


And so the Minister has very deliberately embedded in this element of the Directive a direction to the OPA and to the OEB that this issue is to be governed by the practical time frame.  It is not the earliest possible time frame.  It is not the earliest conceivable time frame.  It is the earliest practical time frame.


And so what we said, what we did in our issue, is we tried to identify certain practical issues that would relate to the practical time frame.  We don't think this is a stretch.


Now, you may or may not agree with the kinds of things that we have identified as being practical issues, but we happen to think they are practical issues, because we think the issues about, if you are -- these plants, from our perspective, are not something you can turn on and off like a light switch.  Taking one of these large units that are presently supplying lots of energy and lots of capacity is not, as Mr. Shepherd would like to say, a "binary exercise".  It is not on/off.  


There are immense practical issues that relate to sunsetting one of these plants.  And critically and relevantly for you, the question becomes, the manner in which that is achieved may have impact on issues like the reliability of the system, the very thing that the Minister is asking you to look at.  If it's not done right, it could jeopardize the ability of those units to respond when needed, if, as and when needed, to maintain system reliability and system adequacy.  That's what we're getting at.  


In our submission, that's exactly what the Minister is asking you to get at.  So, in our view, the OPA's submission on that front is not of assistance to you.


The second item that the OPA was critical specifically of the PWU's approach was vis-a-vis the interpretation of the word "consider" that the PWU had.  And I've forgotten -- Mr. Vegh was quite eloquent in characterizing what the PWU's approach was, but he some -- thought it was -- I don't know if he thought it was artful or not.  


But, in any event, we think it's -- whether it's artful, it's certainly correct.  And this is another issue where we take no pride of original authorship.  We should have done more footnoting to the Board, but we just basically did a blatant steal from the Board here.  That's what you do when you make submissions, is you tell people what you think they want to hear.


If you look at -- this issue is contained at page 26 of the PWU's submissions to you, and I guess it's somewhat important that you have a little bit of context on how it arises.  The context is this:  At this point in our submissions, we are dealing with the aspect of your task that relates to whether or not the IPSP satisfies the requirements of the IPSP Regulation.  And, in particular, we are dealing with that aspect of the IPSP Regulation that enumerates the seven -- just bear with me one moment.


I guess, actually, the best place to see it is in the OPA's draft Issues List -- Revised Issues List, and it's their item number 7 and where it's talking about compliance with the Regulation, and then they proceed to list, I guess it's eight items under that heading.


And we are talking about, here, about "safety, environmental protection, and environmental sustainability".  And that one is contained at -- yes, it's item number 7, under -- it's (vii) under point number 7, where they have it:

"... ensure that safety, environmental protection, and environmental sustainability are considered in developing the plan."


Well, if you go to the Board report, they deal with this issue, and it's important that -- and it appears at page 26 of the Board report.  You will see at the top of page 26 of the Board report there's the heading "Satisfying the requirements of the IPSP Regulation".  And under the heading "plan preparation," the second paragraph, the Board deals directly with the issue about how it interprets the word "considered" for the purposes of the report.


Now, what they say is:

"The paragraph was subsequently amended to remove reference to economic sustainability and to require that the remaining matters be 'considered' by the OPA rather than 'reflected' in the IPSP.  For the purposes of paragraphs 1 and 7 of Section 2(1) of the IPSP, the Board therefore interprets the term 'considered' as meaning weighed and evaluated."


Okay.  Well, there you are.


So what did we say?  We said:

"Does the OPA adequately and reasonably weigh and evaluate safety, environmental protection, and environmental sustainability in the IPSP?"


Two questions, two points.  Point number 1:  To what extent are you bound to apply the same analysis or the same interpretation of "considered" as the Board did in its report?  The answer to that is you're not legally required to, and it's clear, but the question then becomes:  What persuasive weight does it have?  And from our perspective, why wouldn't it have considerable persuasive weight?  This is the Board.  This is this group, sitting as a whole, making this determination, when they are considering this specific issue.


And from our perspective, the question then becomes:  Have you been provided with some clear, cogent and compelling justification to apply something different?  And our answer is no.  At least we haven't heard it.


Now, the second question is, we have, I concede, added a gloss to the Board's words by inserting "adequately and reasonably" in front of "weigh and evaluate."  And if my friend, Mr. Vegh, wants to argue to you that you are required to approve the OPA even if you're satisfied that their weighing and evaluation was inadequate and unreasonable, I'll let him make that argument.


So, in our submission, we don't think we've expanded it, at all.  We think we've applied exactly what the Board was asking for.


My last point may be a minor one, but we think it is of some significance.  And this is not actually about what is in and what is not in, but it is a question of sequencing.  We think that there is actually some importance in this.


The OPA's draft Issues List not only gives you a bunch of issues, it puts them in a particular order.  And here I am now dealing with issue 2, economic prudence and cost-effectiveness. 


What I'd like you to have handy would be the OPA's draft Issues List, version 2, and, secondly, the Minister's Directive.


In framing issue 2 for you in the OPA's draft Issues List, the OPA has set them out in a particular sequence:  Conservation first, renewables second, nuclear third, coal replacement fourth, gas fifth.


Now, you've heard from the OPA about how you have to respect the Minister's Directive, and we concur.  When you look at the Minister's Directive, however, when it's dealing with the resources, it lists them, as well.  And if you look at the list from -- and we say there is an embedded logic and there's a reason why the Minister did what he did, and everything was done for a particular reason.  


We don't have to get into all the rationale for it now, but we say you have to respect the internal logic of the Minister.


And you'll see what the Minister did:  Item number 1, demand reduction, so that's the CDM issue; item number 2, renewables; item number 3, nuclear; item number 4, gas; and number 5, coal.


The OPA has inverted the gas and coal issues.


Now, the OPA may be able to satisfy you at the end of the day that that is the appropriate analytical approach that you should follow, or not.  They may not be able to convince you of that.  But the point is this, that for the purposes of the Issues List and for the purposes of the process of your hearing, from our perspective, in order to respect the Minister's Directive, you have to not only accept the content of the Minister's Directive, but you have to accept the internal logic that goes with it.


And in my submission, the order of operations that's embedded logically in the Minister's Directive is something that, as a default, at least, you must accept.  And, as I say, the OPA may be able to convince you otherwise at the end of the day; fair enough.  But as a going-in proposition, in our submission, you have to accept the Minister's embedded logic in the Directive.


Now, what do we ask you to do in terms of dealing with the Issues List?  From our perspective, as I say, could we live with the OPA's draft Issues List?  The answer to that question is yes.  Do we think that a more detailed proposal is appropriate, being guided by the Board's filing Guidelines?  The answer to that is yes, as well.  


Is there a bright line between one and the other?  Not really.  And there may well be a halfway house about -- at the end of the day, it's:  What level of detail do you think will assist yourself, the parties, and the OPA in making this an efficient hearing and minimizing squabbling down the road?


Those are my submissions, subject to any questions you may have.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Ms. Lea.


QUESTIONS BY BOARD STAFF:

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Mr. Stephenson, have you had an opportunity to consider the actual wording that the OPA has put into its revised issues under item number 2, replacement for coal-fired generation?  


MR. STEPHENSON:  The answer to that is yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  I may not be able to answer the next question, however.


MS. LEA:  All righty.  It's just, if you note this Issues List, as the list continues down, conservation and renewable supply have fairly simple phrasing in the issues.  That is, it begins with economically prudent, cost-effective, should we do more, and what's the implementation schedule.


If you get down to replacement for coal-fired generation, the OPA has listed three steps, I think, that it's encouraging the Board to make findings on.


The first is:  Conservation, renewable, and nuclear, how do they contribute to meeting what coal does now?


Secondly, what are the remaining requirements, and, thirdly, what do we do with gas and transmission?  Will the combination meet the remaining requirements in the earliest practical time frame?


And then we get to economically prudent and cost-effective.  I'm not saying that I have any specific questions about a problem with this, but do you have any comments as to whether the splitting into those three steps for consideration by the Board, or any of the ways that this is particularly expressed, do you have any comments that you wish to make on that?  


And you may not, but if you do, I'd be interested.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The PWU has concerns about the analytical approach that the OPA has taken to the issue of coal replacement in the sense of:  How does it frame the issue, and how does it resolve it?


I don't think there's any magic in the words that are used in points 1, 2, and 3, under the replacement of coal-fired generation, which drives the Board to either accept their analytical approach or reject it.  


From our perspective, the issue is before the Board, in the sense that -- the issue arises in at least two different ways, of course.  One is compliance with the Directive issue.  The issue is squarely framed there.  And it comes up again in the prudent and cost-effective.  


Because of the way the Directive is framed on this issue, in terms of earliest practical time frame, arguably the prudent and cost-effective is embedded in the Directive itself, and so when you do the Directive compliance piece, if I can call it that, I think you have to go through all of that analysis, anyway.


I concede there may be some broader, deeper, wider examination when you're doing the cost-effective and prudence part, but I think it's captured, if it's not captured in three -- I mean, you can just make it simple and you can say, Is the coal-replacement plan economically prudent and cost-effective?  


At the end of the day, that's the question you have to ask yourself and answer.  I think it's captured there.  And maybe I'm missing something, but I thought it was captured there.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  What may be a related question, if we look at the Minister's Directive -- and I was looking at number 5, "Plan for coal-fired generation in Ontario to be replaced", do you think that the phrase, "that ensures adequate generating capacity and electricity-system reliability in Ontario" -- I gather your submission is that the Board should not find that the word "practical" is modified only by those constraints. 


In other words, your argument is that "practical" includes a consideration of other factors besides adequate generating capacity and electricity-system reliability.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't know that you have to decide that issue today.  Certainly the output of the practical analysis would be to ensure those things.  That is the desired consequence of you analyzing this from a practical perspective.  That's the goal of the exercise.  


And I suppose, to the extent there is a practical factor that has no impact whatsoever on adequacy and reliability, maybe that's outside the scope.  I can see that argument.  I'm not sure that it -- I don't see why you need to decide it today, though.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  The Panel has a few questions. 
QUESTIONS BY THE PANEL:

MR. BALSILLIE:  Mr. Stephenson, I'd like to address the transmission resources.  In your material that you sent to us, starting on page 20 of your submission, there's nearly three pages related to transmission. 


In the OPA Revised Issues List, transmission is not specifically addressed, and they say that it's subsumed in other areas and, therefore, does not need to be part of the list specifically. 


And I'm wondering whether you have concerns or whether, as you say, you're totally happy with the Revised Issues List from the OPA.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm not concerned, but from the Board's perspective, it may well be prudent, it seems to me, to put in a basket clause issue on transmission.  I understand -- I recall the Panel, or somebody, asking Mr. Vegh about this issue, and I could see that it may well -- if you were inclined to take the approach of the OPA's list, from my perspective, it probably would be prudent to put a basket clause provision in there with respect to transmission, in the sense of, you know, something to the effect of, you know, Are there any other aspects of the OPA's plan with respect to transmission that, you know, either do or don't meet the economic prudence and cost-effective test, that render the IPSP economically imprudent or non-cost-effective?


That, to me, probably would make sense.  If you have in your own mind any issue about your ability to properly assess the entirety of their plans with respect to transmission and cost-effective -- transmission, economic prudence, and cost-effectiveness, then you should put a basket clause in there.


I don't -- I didn't -- as I understand it, the OPA would say that is entirely up for grabs.  They expect a full review of that, and they've just categorized it in this way. So I don't think the intention is any different.  It's just what makes you comfortable from the perspective of what's of assistance to you and to the parties.


MR. BALSILLIE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stephenson, earlier in your submissions you said that the Board doesn't have to decide the standard of review at this time, nor do we have to decide what interpretation we place on the words "economic prudence" and "cost-effectiveness". 


If we don't decide those things, do you think that we would run the risk of unnecessarily prolonging the proceeding?


MR. STEPHENSON:  No.  And let me deal with them separately, because they are somewhat different.  I concede that.


The standard of review issue, from my perspective, with all due respect, is a no-brainer.  It is absolutely unrelated to the scope of the review.  Unless the OPA is telling you - and I haven't heard it yet - that if you adopt -- let's assume Mr. Vegh stood up on Monday and said this to you:  I urge upon you the standard of review that is contained in whatever chapter, 2.1, I think it is, of the filing.  And if you agree with our submission regarding the scope of review, that will render irrelevant large areas of evidence.  


Let's assume he made that submission to you.  Then I agree with you; you have to deal with it.  You have to deal with that argument.  I haven't heard that submission, and I don't think they're making that submission.


I've got to tell you, if I hear that in reply, I'm going to be coming back here and asking for another opportunity to speak to you.  I didn't see that anywhere in Mr. Vegh's presentation, at all, not a whiff of it, so -- and I just don't think he's -- I don't want to cast any aspersion on this man.  I haven't heard that.  I don't think he's going there.


So that being the case, assuming I'm right about that, the issue of standard of review does not affect the scope of the hearing, at all.  It may be absolutely critical to your decision, but it doesn't affect the scope of what you hear.


Economically prudent and cost-effective, I concede that's a slightly different issue, but there are always going to be boundary disputes about what's in and what's out.  And it doesn't matter what you say here today or at the end of this hearing.  There will continue to be boundary disputes.  There may be a different order of magnitude, but there will be boundary disputes.  And you will be called upon to interpret those words in order to determine, resolve, those boundary disputes as to what's in and what's out.


What I am saying to you is this:  That determination is a determination which is difficult to make finally in the abstract, in the absence of either a factual record and the context in which the factual record arises.  And so I say to you -- because, as you know, these decisions -- while it's, at the end of the day, a question of law, because you are interpreting part of your statute that you are required to reply, those questions of law are always entirely context-specific.  And so I say to you that you should defer that issue until you absolutely have to decide it.


Now, it may well be that there are some issues that have come to you today, or in the course of this week, that you feel are so clearly outside the bounds of any reasonable interpretation of economically prudent and cost-effective that you can say, We are confident that on any reasonable interpretation of those words it isn't this, and therefore we're going to exclude it.


It seems to me that's a perfectly valid approach.  But I just don't think it's appropriate, necessary, or helpful for you to make those fine gradations and purport to make an ultimate determination of that issue, because you just don't have the record.  You don't have the context.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  That's helpful.


Our next submission is from Consumers Council of Canada.  Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  Panel members, do you need me to be in the front bench to make this?  I naturally take a secondary position to Mr. Stephenson, and I'd be uncomfortable doing anything other than that, except with the Panel's direction.  
Can I make the submission from here or do you want me in the front bench?


MS. NOWINA:  I'm not hearing you very well right now, so if you can --as long as the mike's working properly, you're fine where you are.  There's no one sitting in front of you.


MR. WARREN:  Is that better, Madam Chair?


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, members of the Panel, my name is Robert Warren.  I appear as counsel this morning to the Consumers Council of Canada.  My submissions this morning are in three parts.  The first is I want to make submissions on what I say is the correct wording of the relevant statute and submissions on the legislative intent that lies behind that wording.


Second is a response to submissions by four parties, and those parties are my friend Mr. Stephenson's client, the Power Workers' Union, Pollution Probe, the Green Energy Coalition, and the School Energy Coalition.  


Finally, I propose to take some brief submissions on the Revised Issues List.


Let me begin, members of the Panel, with submissions on the wording of the statute and what I say is the legislative intent.  These submissions are, to some limited extent, a reiteration of what is in my client's original written submission.  I'm going to ask for the Board's indulgence to repeat them, only because, in my view, they are so critical to the exercise of the Board's authority in this first phase of the hearing.


The Legislature, in section 25 of the Electricity Act, allocated responsibility for the IPSP among three entities, the Minister, the Ontario Power Authority, and the Board.  The Minister issues Directives that set the goals of the IPSP.  The OPA must follow those Directives, and the OPA develops the IPSP.  


The Legislature has authorized the OPA to exercise its discretion in developing what the plan contains, as long as it follows the Directives.


The Board's function is, in my submission, very narrow and very specific.  It is first to ensure that the IPSP complies with the Directives.  That is, in my view, simply an oversight function:  Does it comply or does it not?  It is not a question of how it complies or whether, in the Board's view, it adequately complies.  I'll get back to that point in a moment.


And, secondly, the Board's function is to assess whether the IPSP is economically prudent and cost-effective.


It is not, in our submission, the Board's function to review the IPSP at large or to replicate what the OPA has done.  It is not the Board's function, in our submission, to substitute its opinion for what the IPSP should contain.


The legislative intent was to precisely allocate responsibility for supply planning and implementation.  There was, in our submission, a mischief which the Legislature was intending to address, and that is to eliminate the diffused planning that was out of control, in our submission, and not accountable to anyone.  And it was to ensure economic rationality.  


The legislative intent was, in other words, to eliminate the chaotic planning that led to poor economic decisions and the extraordinary debt level that all of the residents of this province still bear.


In the process, and as a collateral consideration, it was the legislative intent, in our view, to eliminate any process that resembles in any remote way the DSP process.  It is apparent, in our submission, that a number of parties are unhappy with the system the Legislature has created, and, in particular, that they are unhappy with what the Minister has directed and the OPA has planned.  


Their remedy lies in the political arena.  Their remedy is not something that the Board can provide.  It is not the Board's function to act as a kind of generalized Court of Appeal hearing submissions based on disappointment with what the Minister has decided.


At all points in this process, the Board must ask itself whether its decision-making is within the four walls of what the Legislature intended and what the words of the Statute allow.


Let me turn from those general observations to responses to the individual submissions that you've heard from the four parties I have identified.  And I want to deal first with Mr. Stephenson's submissions on behalf of the  Power Workers' Union, because it seems to me they place, as starkly as any party, the fundamentally different view of what the Board's function ought to be.


I say with great respect to Mr. Stephenson, who's very able and experienced counsel, that because -- and I apologize for mixing my metaphors when I say that -- that he comes before you this morning on little cat feet, pouring oil on troubled waters.  


I cannot imagine, frankly, how the Power Workers' Union can say that its suggested Issues List and the Revised Issues List of the OPA are in any way consistent.  They are fundamentally at odds, for reasons which I'll get to.


The Power Workers' Union's proposed Issues List is premised on two arguments.  The first is that in carrying out its functions under section 25.30(4) of the Electricity Act, the Board must have regard to the objectives set out in section 1 of the OEB Act.  That interpretation is, I say with respect, wrong for two reasons.


The first is that section 25.30(4) is a discrete power conferring a narrow, specific authority on the Board.  It clearly contemplates the Board exercising a power different than that in section 1 of the OEB Act.


If, in the alternative, the two sections are to be read together, they are, in our submission, in conflict, and therefore the specific power which is granted by subsection 25.30(4) overrides the general authority in section 1.


There is a standard accepted view of the interpretation of statutes which I'll quote from the text "Driedger On The Construction of Statutes".  It's the fourth edition.  I'll leave with the Board Staff, with the Board, copies of the relevant section.  And let me read it to you, page 273:

"When two provisions are in conflict and one of them deals specifically with the matter in question while the other is of more general application, the conflict may be avoided by applying the specific provision to the exclusion of the more general one.  The specific prevails over the general.  It does not matter which was enacted first."


There was a specific narrow power which the Legislature has granted to the Board in section 25, and it prevails over the objective in section 1 of the OEB Act.


If the Board were to adopt the Power Workers' Issues List, it would, in my respectful submission -- and I'll get to this in more detail in a moment.  It would, in my respectful submission, be embarking upon the exercise of essentially trying to replicate what the OPA did.  That is not what section 25 allows you to do.  It's not what section 25 directs you to do.


The Power Workers' proposed list is premised, in part, on its interpretation of the relation between section 25 and section 1.


The second, I say with respect, false premise on which the Power Workers' Union's Issues List is premised is that the filing guidelines in the OEB's report in some measure dictate what the Issues List ought to contain.  That's the equivalent, I say with respect, of the tail wagging the dog argument.


The Filing Guidelines do not and cannot enlarge the scope of the Board's jurisdiction under section 25.30.  I say in addition, in response to one of the points Mr. Stephenson made this morning, that if we are to presume that the Filing Guidelines somehow reflect the Board's interpretation of the scope of its authority, then this exercise in Phase I of the IPSP process is essentially rendered meaningless.


To accept Mr. Stephenson's argument is to accept the proposition that the Board has issued the Filing Guidelines as its definitive view of what the scope of its authority is, and, therefore, whatever submissions it is receiving to from you or Mr. Stephenson or from Mr. Vegh or anybody else are essentially irrelevant.


The Board has set Phase I in order to hear submissions to decide the very issue which Mr. Stephenson said is already decided in the Filing Guidelines.


Let me turn, then, to the proposed Issues List; that is, the Power Workers' proposed Issues List.  My preliminary observation is that the proposed Issues List is flawed, because it is premised on the two false premises which I've just discussed.  It should be rejected, in my respectful submission, for those reasons alone. 


The problem with the Power Workers' Issues list is evident from the proposed wording.  If you look through the proposed Issues List, the Power Workers' posits that the Board should inquire into whether or not the OPA has done something adequately.  It repeatedly uses the term "adequately". 


If the Board were to embark upon an examination of whether what the OPA has done it has done adequately, then it is embarking on the exercise of second-guessing everything that the OPA has done to determine whether it meets some criteria which the Board is going to develop as to what the IPSP should contain. 


You are, in effect, using criteria like "adequate" and substituting your opinion for that of the OPA.  And that, in my respectful submission, you are not authorized to do.


In my view, how extreme the iron logic of the Power Workers' Union position is is evident if you look at page 17 of their submission.  I'm not sure you need to turn it up, but when they're talking about nuclear generation resources, the Power Workers' Union invites the Board in this Issues List - indeed, says the Board must, if this is the Issues List - embark upon a feasibility assessment on the refurbishment of existing facilities - that is, nuclear facilities - to review the economic, technological, and environmental aspects of the refurbishment. 


Power Workers' Union says if you have that on the Issues List, then you are embarking on a full-scale review of the viability of a refurbishment of the existing nuclear facilities.  That is not what the legislature intended the Board to do, in my respectful submission. 


In addition, if you look at page 19 of the Power Workers' submission, you will see that it looks on the question of the replacement of coal-fired generation, that the Board is invited to look at supply chain issues, unit operability to respond to system requirements, staffing, and community impacts.  


It's inviting the Board to embark upon an environmental assessment in the broadest possible terms.  That is not what the legislator intended.


So I say with, great respect to Mr. Stephenson and his client, that starting from two flawed premises, Power Workers' Union invites the Board to adopt an Issues List that is an inquiry which the Board -- Legislature has not authorized.


Let me turn then, secondly, to the submission of the GEC and the other parties that Mr. Poch represents.  In my respectful submission, the GEC's position is premised on a concern that the OPA does not place sufficient emphasis on conservation and renewables.  That's an entirely legitimate concern.  The problem is that the Minister has made the decision on what the supply mix should be.  


It is not the Board's function to use its power under Section 25.30(4) of the Electricity Act to reverse that decision.


Like the Power Workers' Union, the GEC invites the Board to use criteria like "reasonable", "appropriately considered", and "adequately weighed and evaluated".  Those words would, as I say -- and I'm repeating myself, but it's an important point.  Using those kinds of words, those kinds of criteria, would allow the Board to replicate the OPA's planning and decision-making process.  That, the Board cannot and should not do.


If the Board looks at page 9 of Mr. Poch's submission, you get an indication there of the breadth of what the GEC says the Board should be embarking on.  The context is that the GEC is making submissions on the OPA's assessment of conservation and demand-management and related issues.


I quote from the GEC's submission when it says:

"In its near-term and long-term planning, OPA has constrained the contribution of renewable generation..." 


That's a policy decision on behalf of the OPA:

"... CDM imports, and high-efficiency gas generation often at the minimum levels required by the Directives.  OPA has specifically abandoned pursuit of renewable generation beyond required minimums by reason of its conclusion that other options are more cost-effective, even while noting that the differences are in some cases slight."


That is an argument about the adequacy of what the Minister has directed by way of the supply mix, and it is not the Board's function in the IPSP process to review that or to reverse it.


The larger objective of the GEC is evident on page 16 of its submission, where it asks, in relation to Issue 8.9:  Is there a preferable plan?  And I quote the submission when it says:

"The legislature, by calling for a review by a public hearings board, has recognized that the appropriate review of a plan that encompasses the largest expenditure in Ontario's history requires far more than a formulaic checklist audit."


I say, with respect, that's not what the Legislature did.  Had it intended the Board to embark on an overall, broad review of the adequacy of what the OPA had done, it would have said so.  It did not.  


And if the GEC has - and it's entirely legitimate that it has - a quarrel with the adequacy of what the Legislature has done, or the Minister, then it has remedies elsewhere than before the Board.


With respect to Pollution Probe, I can say simply that it is premised in large measure on the same concern as the GEC; namely, that there has not been enough emphasis on conservation and renewables.  It says, for example, at page 2 of my friend Mr. Klippenstein's brief, and I quote:

"Pollution Probe submits that the OPA's proposed IPSP 'lacks balance' when one examines it in detail."


That's a policy decision on the supply mix made by the Minister.


I turn, finally, to the submissions of my friend Mr. Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.  And I say by way of preliminary observation, and with great respect, that it would have been more cogent and persuasive had Mr. Shepherd tethered his submissions to an interpretation of the relevant sections of the statute.  


He simply ignores the relevant sections of the statute.  He proceeds, in my respectful submission, on the following two false premises.  The first is that the Board has broad expertise in the energy sector, which it should exercise in what he says specifically is second-guessing the judgment calls of the OPA.  There is simply no authority in the legislation for that.


The second false premise is that if the government called for a review, it must have intended a broad airing of a full range of issues.  This is the same kind of -- it's a classic error, in my respectful submission, in our approach to administrative law; and that is, if a regulatory agency exists, it must exist for some broad purpose, which is to act as a kind of Court of Appeal, for all of the parties that are unhappy with the decisions that the government has made. 


It bears repeating that regulatory agencies are simply creatures of statute.  They exercise the powers that the Legislature has given them.  That the Board is an experienced, sophisticated, economic regulator in the energy sector is beyond question.  I don't gainsay that authority in making these submissions.


What I do say is that, in relation to the IPSP, it has been given narrow and specific authority, and not the kind of authority that Mr. Shepherd invites you to exercise.


Mr. Shepherd, at page 6 of his submissions -- and this is -- I use this as an example of the breadth of what Mr. Shepherd is inviting the Board to do.  He says on page 6, and I quote:

"In this regard, we believe that the Board should consider 'whether an optimal plan should have more aggressive targets' and also whether having adopted targets that are harder to achieve, a revised plan should include appropriate backup resources in case those targets cannot be achieved over any given period."


The use of the term "an optimal plan" are significant, because they invite the Board to substitute its opinion for what the OPA did with respect to the IPSP.


Let me turn briefly to submissions on the Revised Issues List.  Let me say first that the observation I made at the beginning with respect to the Power Workers' Union submission is that the Power Workers' Union submission and its proposed Issues List, the proposed Revised Issues List of the OPA, are not the same animal.  It's not a difference in detail.  It's a difference in kind, because if you adopt the Power Workers' Issues List, you are embarking on an inquiry which are fundamentally different than the inquiry which is assumed in the OPA's Revised Issues List.


It doesn't make very many people happy when I say that you can answer most of the questions in issue 1 "yes" or "no".  Does the IPSP define programs and actions which aim to reduce projected peak demand, et cetera, et cetera? Answer:  Yes or no.  


That's what the Legislature intended you to do.  Once you adopt the approach of the Power Workers' Union and of Mr. Shepherd and of the others that you can examine whether it's done it adequately or sufficiently, then you have slipped into a fundamentally different inquiry, and I strongly urge you not to do that.


My client accepts, with the following exceptions, the Revised Issues List.  Under issue 2, conservation, in our respectful submission, the Board does not need to address the second of the two questions there: 

"Would it be more economically prudent and cost-effective to seek to exceed the 2010, 2025 goals?"


Again, if you address that question, you are addressing a question about the adequacy of the IPSP.  


And, "Is the implementation schedule for conservation issues economically prudent and cost-effective?", that issue, in my respectful submission, the Board does not need to answer.


Under the heading renewable supply and question 2, "Would it be more economically prudent and cost-effective to seek to exceed the 2010, 2025 targets?", in my respectful submission, the Board does not need to address that issue.


Under renewable supply, again, question 3 is, in our respectful submission, subsumed in question 1 and doesn't need to be set out separately.


Under the issue of nuclear base load, question 3, "Is it more economically prudent and cost-effective to build new plants or refurbish existing plants to supply nuclear power?", in our submission that question goes beyond the scope of the Board's inquiry.


And question 4 there is, in our submission, subsumed under question 1.


Under the heading natural gas, in our submission, questions 1 and 2 are unnecessary.  The relevant issue is captured in question 3.


Finally, under part 3, Aboriginal Peoples consultation, in our respectful submission, that issue should not be broken out from the general consideration of whether or not consultation has taken place.


My final submissions, by way of conclusion, Madam Chair and members of the Panel, are these.  There is no question that reviewing the IPSP on the issues of economic prudence and cost-effectiveness will entail difficult decisions about the scope of your inquiry.  I would be naive if I said otherwise.  


It requires, however, that the Board exercise caution and discipline, and the discipline is required to keep the Board within the narrow mandate that the Legislature has given it.


There are, finally, a number of practical considerations which, in our respectful submission, should inform the Board's assessment of what the scope of the Issues List should be.  The first is that this is the first of a series of three-year rolling reviews, and if this inquiry is enlarged in the way that some of my friends have suggested it should be, then you'll be completing this review some time into the second or third phase of the next rolling reviews.  And that's not what the Legislature intended that you do.


The second practical consideration is that there is an urgent need to get the IPSP implemented.  This is not an academic exercise.  This is about keeping the power on so that the residents of this province have electricity at reasonable rates, so the economy of this province continues to thrive in difficult times.  


And the longer that this inquiry goes on, particularly in an open-ended way, the clearer the signals are sent that this is a dangerous place for people to invest in the electricity sector, the longer there is uncertainty about the future of the energy sector in the province, and those are important practical considerations.


The third practical consideration is that the OPA has let some of the contracts, and they've done so for the perfectly practical reason that they have to carry out their mandate to ensure that there is electricity supply in this province.


So my submission, Madam Chair, is that there is a narrow and specific mandate and that the Board should exercise its powers consistent with that narrow and specific mandate.


Those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Ms. Lea, you have questions?


QUESTIONS BY BOARD STAFF:

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren, this may be a question which you are not comfortable in answering.  I don't know, but I'll try it, anyway, and --


MR. WARREN:  Could I say "yes" before I answer the question?


MS. LEA:  Yes, you certainly can.  You can always tell me that it is not a question you wish to answer.  I'm not the Board.


In your submissions, you made it clear that, if I can put it very colloquially -- I'm starting to talk like you -- that the Power Workers Union --


MR. WARREN:  Oh, the horror, Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Well, okay.  That the Power Workers' Union's submission asks the Board to exceed the jurisdiction in the legislation -- that it's been given by the legislation.  And I would like to ask you whether the report of the Board, which included the Filing Guidelines, also, in your view, in any of its aspects, in your view, proposed an inquiry which might exceed the jurisdiction that, in your view, the legislation has given it.


MR. WARREN:  I don't take the report of the Board, Ms. Lea, particularly the filing guidelines, as proposing anything.  It's a list of information that the Board may or may not consider in the course of its inquiry, once it's decided what the scope of its inquiry is.


So, in my submission, the filing guidelines are informational.  They're a direction to the OPA as to the kind of information which the Board might consider, and they have no greater status than that.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


The OPA, it is clear when you read the filing that they have made, have attempted to satisfy those Filing Guidelines.  Are there aspects to have evidence that the OPA has filed which, in your view, on a review of that evidence in any depth, might exceed the jurisdiction the Board has been granted by the Legislation?


MR. WARREN:  I think the general answer to that at the high level of generality is, yes, Ms. Lea, but I'm embarrassed to say that I have not read every line of the IPSP filing in detail.  Mr. Stephenson is saying I should be ashamed of myself, and I accept Mr. Stephenson's judgement on that point.


So I think it would be irresponsible of me, Ms. Lea, to say that there are aspects of the evidence, of which they are.  Depending on what the Issues List is, and when we get to those issues, then my client will be making submissions on whether or not the Board should consider it.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 


QUESTIONS BY THE PANEL:

MR. BALSILLIE:  Mr. Warren, with regard to the consultation process, I believe you indicated in your statement here today that there was not a necessary requirement for Part 3 of the Revised Issues List, Aboriginal Peoples consultation?


MR. WARREN:  I did, sir, and I what I meant by that, if I didn't make myself clear, is that that issue is subsumed within the general question of whether or not there has been consultation.  My point was that I don't think you need a separate, distinct Issues List for consultation with the Aboriginal Peoples.  That's the limit of my point.


MR. BALSILLIE:  Okay.  And do you have any comments, then, on the submissions that we heard earlier on Monday from various Aboriginal groups on that particular point?


MR. WARREN:  Again, I'm embarrassed to say I don't know them in detail.  I did read the submissions, and, as I understand it -- and also from a conversation with Board Staff counsel this morning, as I understand it, they're taking the position that the consultation doesn't necessarily have to come from the OPA, but from the Minister.  And I have no submissions on that point, sir.


MR. BALSILLIE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


We'll take our morning break now.  Given that this morning's schedule is not too onerous, we will take a longer break and we'll resume at 11 o'clock.


MR. VEGH:  Madam Chair, if I may, Mr. Lyle and I will have to depart the proceedings for the rest of the day and for tomorrow, so we'll see the Panel again on Friday.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  And Mr. Zacher's staying?


MR. VEGH:  Mr. Zacher will stay, so we'll be in good hands.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:22 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:03 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Did any matters come up during the break that we need to discuss? 

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MS. LEA:  I have two preliminary matters, Madam Chair.  The first is that we received copies of the reference that Mr. Warren used in his submissions, the Sullivan and Driedger On The Construction of Statutes.  We're going to mark that as -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Eight?  


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Exhibit 8, please.


EXHIBIT NO. 8:  COPY OF SULLIVAN AND Driedger ON THE CONSTRUCTION OF STATUTES.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  The second matter has to do with the schedule.  I was informed by Mr. O'Leary this morning that Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. is not intending to attend and make submissions tomorrow morning, so people who are following the schedule can strike Enbridge Gas Distribution from the list.  He intends to file a letter with the Board's Secretary indicating this, and also indicating his support or whatever he wants to say in that letter.


I want to express my appreciation to Mr. Fred Cass, who has agreed that Ontario Power Generation will make its submissions then on Thursday morning.  Mr. Cass is here, so I pounced on him, because he happened to be sitting here.  That's the price you pay.


I would also, however, call for volunteers.  Those folk who are scheduled to speak on Friday, whether they are here or not in the room, I would ask them to get in touch with us if they can move to Thursday.  It looks like we may have a little extra time on Thursday afternoon. 


The best way to do that is to call my telephone number at the Board - and with your indulgence, I'll put it on the record - 416-440-7631, and let me know if any of the three people on Friday can move up to Thursday.  That's the Electricity Market Investment Group, the Ontario Waterpower Association, or Energy Probe Research Foundation.  So if they could call me and let me know that, that would be great.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.


Our next submission is from Provincial Council of Women of Ontario.  Ms. Janes. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. JANES:

MS. JANES:  Good morning, Ms. Nowina, Mr. Quesnelle, and Mr. Balsillie.  Also, good morning to the OEB Staff and the remaining -- remnants of the OPA Staff and those people who are here, a few people, and those who are listening on your headphones, which has become the order of the day, I think.


Provincial Council of Women of Ontario is grateful for this opportunity to present to you at this hearing, but first I'd like to explain to you how we're going to do this.  I'm Gracia Janes, and I will be explaining a little bit about the Council of Women and our history.  


Then our counsel, Sarah Dover, will take you through the legal walk that we hope that you will take, and she will deal with issue number 1, and then I will deal with the remaining issues, and then sum up.  And you have a chart at the beginning of our presentation that explains the different parts.


There is a little -- there were some technical difficulties with computers crashing and various things, so we will send an amended version of this with all the typos corrected.  Bear with us.  There aren't too many of those.


First of all --


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Janes.


MS. JANES:  Yes, go ahead.


MS. NOWINA:  The document that we have before us now dated January 16th, is that the same as the document you filed with us earlier, or is that different --


MS. JANES:  No, this is just -- sorry.


MS. NOWINA:  So we'll mark that as an exhibit, then.  Mr. Crocker?  Exhibit 9.  Thank you.


EXHIBIT NO. 9:  PRESENTATION CHART FROM THE PROVINCIAL COUNCIL OF WOMEN OF ONTARIO.


MS. JANES:  Thank you.


The Provincial Council of Women was established in 1923 and represents many thousands of Ontarians from diverse backgrounds.  In the back of this brief, you'll see some of -- see all of our members, but they include local Councils of Women from Windsor to Ottawa, and affiliated members such as the Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario and the Polish Women's Group and the Business and Professional Women.  It's quite a diverse group, and we've been around a long time.


We've also been -- we are connected, we are members, of the National Council of Women of Canada, which was started in 1893 by Lady Aberdeen, the Governor General's wife, and we have been responsible for the founding of the VON in Canada, the Consumers' Association, and we worked with Adelaide Hoodless, starting the Women's Institute.  Four of our members, or five -- five of our members were -- at the national level, were involved with the Persons case.  So we have a very long history.  


Some of our national policies on issues of energy go back to the '50s, related to solar power and energy conservation, and also some concerns that were raised around nuclear energy.


The Provincial Council of Women has a proactive mandate to improve society and to protect the public good, and a long history of advocacy respecting public health, safety, and environmental protection.


Over many years, we've made numerous presentations to various governmental bodies regarding electricity and energy issues.  For instance, in 1992, we presented a brief regarding Bill 118 to the Standing Committee.  Bill 18 (sic) was an act to amend the Power Corporation Act.  


And we presented to the Seaborn Panel regarding the disposal of nuclear waste in the Precambrian Shield.  And we've been involved in all of these proceedings responding to the Board Guidelines -- the Staff Guidelines, the Board Guidelines, the Supply Mix Directive, and most of the position papers or the discussion papers that the Ontario Power Authority put forward.


And our briefs are based on democratically developed policies, and we've promoted all forms of -- the forms of energy, alternative energy, and energy conservation and efficiency, and have recommended the phase-out of nuclear plants at the end of their life cycles.


Now, I'd like to -- having explained who we are, I'd like to turn it over to our legal counsel, Sarah Dover.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DOVER:

MS. DOVER:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel members.  The breakdown between Mrs. Janes and myself really falls generally into the categories of process and substance, and so my task here is to ground some of the issues of process.  And while I fear I will not be able to contribute constructively to the intense competition of metaphor that is underway, I hope very much to elucidate some of the thinking around the legal issues that ground this process of determining the issues.


I wanted to begin with an evocative note.  And I'm drawing my comments from the submission, the oral submission, that we've given you today.  And for those of you who are listening online, it will be electronically filed and available.


But to begin with an evocative point, the Minister gave a letter to OPA in 2005 which the OPA filed to you in its submissions on Monday.  And the Minister described the process of developing the IPSP in similar terms that I would suggest apply to this review, and that is that it is a historic task.  It's a 20-year plan that represents the aspirations of government and the people of Ontario.  


The impacts will long last after 20 years, and this generation of policy-makers, us collectively, will be judged by future generations in the context of what we decide as an outcome of this review.  


It is an important review, and the process which supports the review needs to reflect this historic context.


Yet, while the review is historic, it's very important that the process is open, fair and transparent, but the review should not be narrowly cast.  It should not be put within unnecessary limits, in terms of scoping the process in accordance with a preliminary judgment of what the role of the Board is; nor should the process meander, dance, or do any other gesticulation into a diffuse universe of uncharted concerns.


Now, the OPA has suggested through its proposed Issue List that it is sufficient -- in terms of the issues that the Council is concerned about, it is sufficient to house health, environment and safety concerns in language which reiterates the language in the Regulation.


So the language in the Regulation requires the OPA to have considered environmental protection, sustainability, and safety.  So we must look, then, to what the definition is of the environment in that Regulation, and the definition is:  Air, water, land, plant life, animal life, and human life.


So the OPA has suggested that it is sufficient for the purpose of scoping the issues of this proceeding that you ask the question of whether or not the OPA considered life.  We would suggest by the Council that that scoping of the health, environment and safety issues is far too diffuse, nebulous.  It is essentially a universal scoping, and does not provide the foundation


So, what we have done as the Council is tried to put ourselves, at the risk of seeming immodest, in your shoes.  We tried to ask ourselves what is the structure of the inquiry into health and the environment, so as to avoid the diffuse analysis that the OPA has suggested to you.


So, while we have put before the Board 11 issues, they are not issues, if you will, akin to a buffet table.  We intended to suggest a structure for the analysis of these issues so that we are not asking you to pick and choose amongst a principled or methodological approach to the issues, but to say that there is an approach to the overall analysis of this issue which can guide the contributions in a meaningful way.


Lastly, as a caveat to our presentation, it is just not possible for us to make contributions on the issues without, to some degree, touching upon the merits of the IPSP.  So, to the degree that Mrs. Janes or myself may be touching on the failures of the IPSP, it is by way of suggesting that the process needs to be broad enough so as to house these concerns.


I have three key concerns in respect of the procedural issues that have been put before you.  And these issues have been characterized as jurisdictional or the role of the Board or the standard of review, but all three of my concerns can be summarized as this:  The Board is still the Board.  


While the Act has provided you with a very specific task at hand, it has not in any way affected the otherwise usual rules and laws that govern your proceedings.


Moving now to those three issues, the first issue is:  What is the purpose of the Issues List?  I think the legal issues that have been put before you to date have conflated two substantive areas of law.  


One substantive area of law speaks to what your jurisdiction and role is, and I would, for simplicity's sake, include the standard of review in this.  It is essentially the law that speaks to what will scope your ultimate decision.  That is a separate and distinct area of law from procedural fairness, which also applies to this hearing.  It applies through the normal functioning of the laws and rules that apply to the Board.


So, for example, it applies through the functioning of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, through common law, and through the rules of the Board.  This Board is required to fulfill the mandate of procedural fairness and to be true to the way that procedural fairness has been scoped and characterized and developed through those authorities that are specifically directed to the substantive area of law. 


Essentially, the task before you of scoping these issues has been forecast and described, in terms of providing you with guidance, with your existing instruments, which include the rules.


So we look, then, to the rule of the Board which governs the development of issues, and this is Rule 30.  Rule 30 provides that:

"The Board may identify issues that it will consider in a proceeding if, in the opinion of the Board ..." 


And I stop there only to point out that the development of an Issues List is already squarely within the discretion of the Board:

"... and the purpose of developing an Issues List is so that it will assist in the conduct of the proceeding, and, also, that the Issues List can be developed where documents filed do not adequately set out the matters in issue, or it will allow the parties to effectively participate."


Now, if the Board decides to develop an Issues List,  there is required content in that Issues List.  It must delineate the contested issues.


And so we would say that the Council urges the Board to set out an Issues List that abides by the intent of Rule 30, and that is to fulfill the procedural fairness requirement that is before this Board, and in this circumstance it is to facilitate the participation of the parties and to identify key issues in contest.


Now, obviously, key issues in contest that should be identified include, for example, the jurisdiction of the Board in the standard of review.


Now, for clarification, the two areas of substantive law that I am suggesting have been conflated, procedural fairness and jurisdiction, will always be before this Board.  Its use of procedural fairness applies now as they do at the merit stage, but it's a question of emphasis, and the emphasis at the point of developing the Issues List should be on the law respecting procedural fairness and not on the law in terms of jurisdiction.


So, in other words, at a very basic level, the Board can include health, safety and environmental issues in the Issues List because these issues are clearly in contest, and to include them in a structured way will help to effectively direct the participation of the parties.


The ability of the Board to include important issues that are in contest, notwithstanding the Board's ultimate determination on the issues or decision of how to consider these issues - in other words, your ultimate determination in respect of your jurisdiction - is consistent with a liberal interpretation of Rule 30, which is required of this Board through the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.  


What should be in the Issues List is a question of how to interpret Rule 30.  The Statutory Powers Procedure Act requires you to deliberately construe Rule 30 so as to allow for a just process and decision.


In other words, scoping outside of the Issues List an effective approach to health, safety, and the environment will not allow the Council a just process in which to hear out our concerns.


My second procedural list issue is what I coyly call the consideration of the correct approach to the statutory interpretation.  And counsel for the Consumers Association has put before you a portion of Driedger's theory of interpretation, and I will respectfully submit that my friend is in the right church and in the wrong pew.  


So, subject to the sections to have Act that mandate the Board to conduct the review and provide for the Board's power in respect of relief - this is the approve or send-back portions - subject to those provisions of the Act, the Board continues to be bound by its usual laws and rules.  What is of key importance is what laws apply to the Board's determination of interpretation of the issues.


Now, the correct approach to the interpretation of statutory language is an issue that is well canvassed in law, and the modern approach to interpretation has been affirmed by the Supreme Court in numerous cases, and it is indeed Driedger's modern approach.  And I quote it for the purpose of the record.  It says:

"The words of an act are to be read in their entire context, and in their grammatical and ordinary sense harmonious with the scheme of the Act, the object of the Act and the intention of Parliament."


So to imply that the word, for example, "consider," has a universal and abstract meaning, in the respectful submission of the Council, is simply not a lawful approach to the interpretation.


Now, we did a very quick Quicklaw reference to see how many times the word "consider" appears in Ontario statutes and regulations, and this word "consider" is used in Ontario statutory law more than a thousand times in over 375 different instruments.


Now, to suggest that there is one universal and abstract meaning to the word "consider" not only is a violation of the accepted approach to statutory interpretation; we would submit respectfully it's just absurd.


Where the modern approach is used to statutory interpretation, this approach would allow for the Board to house the health, safety and environmental issues that the Council is going to raise within the directly applicable authority to this review.  


Moving now to the next section, where I speak directly about the authorities that apply to this review, I want to be clear, by way of prefacing these remarks, that we support GEC and the other submissions that have been put before you that indicate that you have a broad public interest mandate, which is established by the overall purposes of the Act.  However, I want to be clear the Council does not believe that you need to reach outside of the explicit authorities relevant to this review in order to find jurisdiction to include health, safety, environment in the issues, or even to make a decision in respect of health, safety or environment.


It's important to distinguish between the source of jurisdiction and the method of interpretation of the existing words of the authorities that apply directly to this review.


So the authorities that apply to this review, and discussion of what those authorities are, are well-heeled in previous submissions, but they are essentially the Act, the Regulation and the Directive.


We are going to suggest that there are approximately six areas of those three authorities that apply to the analysis or that apply to health, safety and environment in the overall analysis. 


And I want to refer you here to the submission where we have attached as an appendix a table which sets out those areas of the directly applicable authorities that apply to health, safety and environment, and then excerpt the portion of the Filing Guidelines which already have touched upon these areas which may or may not be applicable.


Now, that's sort of a starting point of what discussion has already occurred in respect of interpreting the authority put before the Board in respect of the review, of interpreting this authority in regards to health, safety and the environment.


So, firstly, to begin, touching upon what the key areas are, in terms of incorporating health, safety and the environment, the comments that I'm going to make are building upon the previous submissions of other intervenors which have touched upon this point.


Firstly is that under the Regulation, there's a requirement that the review ensure that the IPSP complies with any directions issued by the Minister.  What does "comply" mean?  What is the context?


Well, we're going to suggest here, at the risk of seeming like radical environmentalists, that it was the intention of the Minister to comply with the Environmental Bill of Rights and the Statements of Environmental Values that also governed the action of the Minister's.


Now, that does not mean to suggest that the Environmental Bill of Rights or the Statement of Environmental Values is the source of jurisdiction for this Board for considering these issues; rather, that the Minister's direction should be interpreted in light of the presumption that the Minister intended to put effect to the Statement of Environmental Values and the Environmental Bill of Rights when he issued the Directive.


Secondly, to touch upon the issues of the words "economically prudent" and "cost-effective", is that the Council supports an approach to "economically prudent" and "cost-effective" that has been proposed by the previous intervenors, including Lake Ontario Waterkeepers and others, and we echo that the word "prudent" implies a reasonable analysis and provides the Board with ample territory in which to encompass health, safety, and environmental issues.


And I won't read it into the record for the purpose of expediency of time.  However, this is an area that was a subject of some consideration in the Filing Guidelines, and the Council supports the approach within the Filing Guidelines that includes what Mrs. Janes would call a fulsome approach to the concepts of "cost-effective" and "economically prudent". 


We would also encourage this Board to go ever so slightly further to craft the issues so as to eliminate the intent behind the Report Panel's concern for the requirement of the OPA to make submissions in respect of air emissions.


So the Filing Guidelines made mention of a requirement to delineate air emissions in the review of the IPSP, and we would suggest there is an intention behind that requirement, and the intention is to address health and environmental impacts from those air emissions. 


And we would suggest that this Board expressly lay out what environmental issues are being addressed, as opposed to moving to the technical aspect first.  So instead of merely requiring that air emissions be reported, that we talk expressly about concern for health effects and for climate change, as opposed to simply speaking indirectly by talking about air emissions.


Thirdly, there is a requirement to consult in the Regulation, and so clearly there will be a requirement on this Board to determine whether or not the OPA effectively consulted.  And I simply want to make the point for the record that, as environmentalists, we usually come before boards like this, or courts or whatnot, to speak about substantive issues, but it is often our experience that procedural rights are as important as the specific substantive rights, and they are -- they should be interpreted, once again, in light of the Environmental Bill of Rights and the requirement to consult pursuant to that.


However, we hope very much that problems that Mrs. Janes may touch upon, in terms of the consultative process of the OPA, may be remediated to some degree through this process, so that the concerns are thoroughly aired and the IPSP is judged in accordance with those concerns.


Fourthly, there is a -- the OPA -- there is a requirement for the OPA to have complied with or to have ensured that safety, environmental protection, environmental sustainability are considered in the plan.  This word "considered" has been the subject of much review and the section has been a focal point for the discussion. 


But it should be read in conjunction -- this is Section 7 of the Regulation.  It must be read in conjunction with Section 8 of the Regulation.  Now, Section 8 of that Regulation speaks to project-specific evaluations which occur in -- as subjects to the review. 


So the intent of Section 7 is to be one that is global, comprehensive, in toto, because project-specific considerations are dealt with in Section 8.


So in addition to that, simply as a matter of statutory interpretation, it's fundamental to the quality of the review that all components of the plan be considered by the Board.  So as one example, there has been, you know, canvassed in this discussion whether or not transmission is adequately considered in the OPA draft Issues List.  


Well, in the context of the environmental assessment which is occurring in regards to the Pickering refurbishment, transmission, in addition to nuclear waste, has been scoped outside of the context of that environmental assessment.  So it is important that the review under Section 7 of the Regulation be one which is comprehensive.


We would like to put on record that the Council supports the definitions of safety, environmental protection and sustainability that were in the Filing Guidelines on page 27.  We note, however, that in the definition of "environmental protection", we should not assume that mere compliance with a regulatory standard will achieve the objective of environmental or health protection.  


That being said -- so, in other words, one of the issues that we have proposed is that the Board be conscious about what level of environmental protection is being fulfilled or not fulfilled in the context of the IPSP.


The other issue, of course, is that there are regulatory objectives behind environmental safety and health regulation that should not be disturbed by the IPSP.  Does the IPSP undermine in any way the overall comprehensive objectives, for example, of air quality regulations?  That is an issue properly put before this Board, because it will never be canvassed before any other forum, and it should be a clear measure of success of the IPSP, in terms of its review of health, safety and environmental considerations.


So is it not only compliant on a project-specific level, but does the IPSP in fact complement and promote the objectives of the other regulatory frameworks?


Fifthly - and this is my last issue in respect in respect of the legal issues that are put before you - is that also pursuant to the Regulation, the OPA must have complied or ensured that each electricity project recommended in the plan that meets the criteria set out within this section has a sound rationale.


So this is an issue that has hardly been canvassed in the submission on the Issues List before you, is how this review should deal with the streamlining objective of the Regulation.  So where this review includes express consideration of specific projects as required by this Regulation is that, How should the Issues List reflect the approach to a project-specific analysis subject to section 7.


So this issue is obviously critically important, because we as environmentalists may very well find ourselves in a fight down the road that a particular project does not qualify for review under the Environmental Assessment Act because it has been canvassed in this review process.  So this review process, in our submission, must be at least as robust as that environmental assessment process; not identical in terms of the structure of the analysis, but in terms of the overall approach to environmental protection, for example.  


It must at least be as robust as that in order to satisfy at least the concerns of the Council that this process ultimately will culminate in a thorough consideration of health and environmental safety issues.


And in the context of project-specific reviews - and this comment applies overall - is that the Council stresses, the Council is adamant, that there be no exemptions for nuclear generation under this section or in any aspect of the analysis of this Board.  


There is no basis in law to assume that nuclear generation projects are exempted from the Ontario Environmental Assessment Act.  Furthermore, it is the elephant in the living room in this review.  It is a principal concern for the public, and, in the public's eye, there will be a problem in terms of legitimacy of this review process if there is not a thorough and effective analysis of the OPA's approach to nuclear power.


So, by way of prefacing Mrs. Janes' comments, after reviewing the procedural concerns I wanted to raise with you today, I simply want to point out that, as Mrs. Janes goes through each of the proposed issues, it truly is our intent to try and suggest a framework for the analysis of health, environment and safety issues that are before you.


Now, that framework begins with the inclusion of the precautionary approach.  And the express inclusion of the precautionary approach here, the Precautionary Principle, will not have the effect of broadening the scope of the review.


What it does is it sets out clearly what the legal obligations are, as has been confirmed by the Supreme Court, that the legal obligations are, when there is a context of uncertainty, when we don't know, when science can't provide us with an answer, we are going to err on the side of caution.  That's what that means.


Now, the Precautionary Principle is not imported into this review through case law.  The Supreme Court at no point has said anything to the effect that this Board or any court has an express requirement to ensure that all governmental decision making is subject to the Precautionary Principle.


What they have said is that international law should be considered in the process of interpreting Canadian statutes.  It should be assumed that Canadian statutes and Canadian decision-making, that the intent of it was to comply with international law, and that the Precautionary Principle has achieved the status of customary international law.


What that means is that the interpretation of the authority given to you to conduct this review should include the assumption that the Ontario government intended to comply with the Precautionary Principle when laying out the authority for this review.


It means that the information that is put before this Board, in judging the IPSP, should include this general approach that says:  If we don't know when it comes to health, safety, and environment, we're not going to brazenly go ahead; we're going to err on the side of caution in order to benefit the health and the environment of Ontarians.


So I thank you for your time and attention, and certainly would entertain questions now or afterwards, but Mrs. Janes will go now through the proposed issues of the Council.


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MS. JANES:

MS. JANES:  Our second issue:  Does the IPSP succeed in providing the highest possible level of protection for human health, safety, and environment?


Where impacts on health, safety and the environment are known, what level or protection should be afforded or will be afforded?  


The Ontario Power Authority suggests that it's acceptable to relegate health, safety and environmental protection to the other regulatory regimes, and therefore it is outside the purview of their review.


The position of the OPA on this issue was foretold in Strataos' '07 report that states:

"The OPA acknowledges that risks to workers and public safety and the environment are associated with activities related to the generation, transmission and use of electricity.  Numerous organizations already exist with legal mandates to ensure public and worker health and safety as well as environmental protection.  OPA will not step outside its own mandate to create policy on these issues."


And then further:

"Safety is inherently considered in the Integrated Power System Plan development process through the fact that participants in the electricity sector activities will be required to comply with legislation, rules and regulations with respect to public and worker safety and to protect the environment."


And that's it.  As a result, public and occupational health and safety were not subject to a detailed assessment in the preparation of the plan.


Of particular importance is the need for complete life cycle analysis.  For nuclear, these include such issues as waste management over a million-year period; the pollution from uranium mining wastes, which sits in tailing ponds for many years; the transportation of nuclear waste over long distances and the disposal of low and intermediate non-fuel nuclear waste near a Great Lake, Lake Huron; the cumulative impacts of radioactive releases in air, soil and water.  This should have been part of a comparative like cycle analysis, rather than just nuclear's operational impacts.


We draw attention to the Stratos report, which noted that the following relevant issues were only partially addressed:  Risk identification assessment processes, assessment of needs and options.  The project level assessments do not address all the sustainability criteria in the framework for the current assessment - e.g., safety - nor has an analysis of tradeoffs been conducted by the consultants.


Public health and safety and occupational health and safety; water effluents and biodiversity; labour and employment.


And the Senes report states also that:

"In this report, no effects associated with the lifecycle comparisons except operations are considered, including facility construction and development and upshore fuel cycle of extraction, processing and transport."


So it's a very limited life cycle analysis.


Number 3 issue:  Overall, to what extent does the IPSP succeed at recommending a sustainable energy future for Ontario, especially in light of the rights and needs of future generations?  


PCWO echoes the submissions of other intervenors that call on the Board to include an issue that allows for an overall assessment of the IPSP and its success in relation to moving Ontario towards a sustainable energy future.


The reference to intergenerational environmental rights and needs is included to ensure that the analysis considers future generations in light of the 20-year time frame and much longer impacts, depending on the type and scale of the resources.


We note that in the Senes report, the Supplementary Environmental Impacts Report of June 2007, and in the Stratos report of July 2007, they make numerous mentions of interviews with OPA Staff and of the Board's commitment to the importance of sustainability in the development of the IPSP.


They also note that the sustainability advisory group met only twice, and the recommendation that the OPA needs to be clear that its intent in the consideration of sustainability is to go beyond compliance has been ignored, with the OPA deferring to other health, safety and environmental regimes.


Further to this, the Senes report narrowed its discussions on sustainability and the IPSP to exclude the complete life cycle analysis.  In other words, in the first report, there was some reference to some attempt to do a rather incomplete life cycle analysis, but now we're really not doing a complete one at all, and it is admitted in this report.


PCWO contends that if the IPSP is approved and huge investments are made early on in the nuclear plants without the benefit of a complete life cycle comparative analysis between electricity sources, there will be little flexibility to move away from it in ensuing years.  Future generations will then be left with many onerous and perhaps overwhelming consequences for their health, environment and safety.


Number 4:  Does the approach to sustainability in the IPSP reflect the priorities and concerns of the public in relation to the protection of human health, safety and the environment?


PCWO generally supports the definition of "sustainability" provided by the report Panel at page 27:

"IPSP discussion paper 6, Sustainability, emphasizes that societal acceptance also encompasses cultural impacts, contributions to livelihood sufficiency, and regional development, effects on public health and safety consideration."  


OPA's view is that the public participation process would give direction on this matter.


According to the Stratos report, stakeholders reviewing and commenting on discussion paper 6 on sustainability were supportive of OPA's efforts to address it, but also commented on the need for further analysis using economic and social acceptance criteria.


Unfortunately, once more the OPA failed to move this issue forward, merely stating, according to Stratos, that it, "has worked within the policy direction provided by government decisions".  The discussion went on, and then we reverted and narrowed it down.


Public health and safety and environmental protections are key public society priorities, and the OPA's consultations and resultant report regarding the supply mix advice to the Minister of Energy was an attempt to reflect the public's priorities.


PCWO made significant comments critiquing the supply mix report as failing to address the public's concerns.  Our concerns included such issues as the absence of attention to the risk of terrorist threats to nuclear stations and serious accidents, with catastrophic results that such events would entail for southern Ontario; the health impacts of nuclear power; a minimization of the importance of government priorities, for example, creation of a conservation culture and preference for renewable sources of energy, and failed to establish a long-term conservation target; and, finally, an assumption that new nuclear plants would operate at peak efficiency, have no cost overruns in construction, and stated that -- we stated that the longstanding and not-yet-solved problem of nuclear waste is well on its way to being solved.  That's what they have said, but it is not solved, and it will be a long time coming.


OPA's neglect of these and other critiques from environmental groups is its minimalist way of saving time with a focussed approach, and its unwillingness to involve the broader public in a more fulsome way have made it clear that they're not open to hearing the priorities of the public regarding health, safety and environmental sustainability.


Rather, having given its advice to the Minister regarding the supply mix that would allow the Minister to make new goals that reflected the public concerns, it has washed its own hands of these concerns and used this minimalist interpretation of relevant regulations, directives and legislation.


Number 5:  Does the IPSP take a reasonable approach to the concept of risk, including the consideration of vulnerable populations of people, such as children, the elderly and people with illnesses? 


With dramatic effect, we might ask the question:  How many people would the IPSP injure, disable or kill?  Risk is a political decision, not meaning in this context a legislative decision.  It's usually defined and operationalized at a technical level by bureaucrats.  


Risk also applies differently to different populations; for example, in the different impacts of air pollution on children and the elderly.  The consideration of risk, therefore, ought to include risk factors that adjust the level of reasonable risk to that which affects the most vulnerable.


And just as an aside, up until recently, and I think in some cases still, in the United States and here, the risk that they measure in their various determinations is assigned to the adult 25-year-old male weighing 156 pounds.


Number 6:  Does the IPSP include all reasonably foreseeable risks, including risks associated with implementation of the recommended options, such as catastrophic events associated with nuclear generation, and the difficulties in extending the life of nuclear plants or siting of high-impact facilities?


While some foreseeable risks related to all sources of electricity are acknowledged by the OPA, such as the positioning of transmission lines, there is no inclusion of catastrophic risks, as these are considered highly unlikely by the OPA.


We take the view that it is these kinds of risks the public is concerned with.  And however small the risk may be, it should give pause to the planners and be included in any plan as a worst-case scenario.  This is common planning practice in almost any field.  You put the best and the worst, and then you plan.


The public is well aware also of the risks involved in extending the life of the Pickering "A" nuclear plant.  I must say here, yesterday I was impressed with Mr. Cowan, who said that nuclear is an issue for many people.  It's not just Council of Women, although we represent a very broad sector.  Nuclear is an issue, and certainly when it gets to be more immediate, in one's backyard, it becomes even more of an issue.


And these are some of the risks:  The presence of an active earthquake zone at Pickering; the international US Great Lake states.  They have concerns regarding the burial of low and intermediate non-fuel nuclear waste by the shores of Lake Huron at the Bruce site -- yes?  Oh, sorry, I'm trying to get through on time.  Is that all right?  Sorry, I forget where I am.


There are also risks of long delays in the siting of new nuclear plants due to public concerns and of the historic and yet unsolved dilemma of nuclear waste disposal and the risks related to the storage of high-level nuclear waste over the very, very long-term.  It's a 300-year plan just getting it to the final point.


The OPA has mentioned, but failed to plan, for the huge intergenerational risks that will be attendant on the management of nuclear-fuel wastes over a period of a million years for health and community safety reasons. 


Does the IPSP take a reasonable approach to the consideration of human health and environmental impacts and benefits, including baseline measurements, risk assessment, and health and environmental outcome reporting?


The environmental review of the plan will concentrate around some key issues:  Adverse impacts, alternatives and mitigation.  Therefore, it is fundamental to the efficacy of the review to begin at the beginning with a concrete analysis of the environmental baseline. 


Further, the methodology for determining risk, as distinct from concept of risk, should be scrutinized.  Lastly, health, safety and environmental outcomes will continue to be a focus in the three-year reviews.  


How will we know the performance of the IPSP as it relates to these important issues?  PCWO supports an approach that determines outcomes based on health, safety and environmental outcomes, and not mere compliance with other regulatory regimes.


Number 8:  Does the IPSP approach to cost reflect the protection of human health, safety and environment as a priority?  In particular, does cost include cradle-to-grave financial implications that expressly include health and environmental outcome reporting, as well as the potential for a worst-case scenario?


The OPA planning has neglected the inclusion of cradle-to-grave life-cycle accounting and analysis of associated costs regarding some rather huge liabilities, for example, as we've mentioned, the health and safety risks from an accident at an existing or future plant; the storage of waste at nuclear sites, existing nuclear sites, for more years than planned, should there be delays in the nuclear waste management organization's 300-year plan; impacts on environmentally important Great Lakes from radionuclide releases at all existing nuclear plants; the potential leakages of radionuclides into Lake Huron if a plan dump for low- and intermediate non-fuel nuclear waste is located on its shores, and the safety of this dump, which is to be located on non-stable Ordovician sedimentary soil formations, where, according to a study done for a nuclear waste management organization by Dr. Sykes, the physical properties of shale can undergo significant, irreversible alteration with low or in - I can't read my own writing - changes in moisture temperature.  


So he's pointed out this rather disturbing fact that there could be some problems at the Bruce in the geology.  And that is the main and only study that the NWMO did.


There are pollutions from mine wastes, as I've mentioned, in tailing ponds, and radionuclide releases to surface and groundwater or to land, which are significant exposure pathways for these contaminants, facility decommissioning problems and costs and tritium releases to water, soil, and air.


PCWO recognizes the social and economic costs that would ensure -- should -- could ensue, should renewable and CDM measures not fulfil supply needs in an alternative

plan, one with minimal nuclear.  Nevertheless, these would pale beside the costs associated, say, with a catastrophic event, such as an act of terrorism or a devastating earthquake at Pickering.  And Pickering is on an earthquake fault.  It's an active earthquake fault.


Such events could bring the social and industrial heartland of Ontario to a standstill.  While we agree that the potential for such instance is very low, there should be some accounting for these costs when comparing them with other forms of more sustainable and less environmentally damaging electricity production.


Number 9:  Is the IPSP analysis and background information sufficient?  Has the OPA consistently used up-to-date and accurate information to formulate its plan?  For instance, has it enhanced its background materials regarding the life cycle cost analysis of nuclear to include all aspects?


Again, the issue of the importance of a life cycle analysis is key.  The OPA relied heavily on the Senes report.  PCWO commented on the Senes 2005 report, noting the lack of the complete life cycle, and we are disturbed that its updated report left out the life cycle information and deals only with operational impacts.


As well, the OPA failed to identify and deal with externalities, in the true sense of the meaning, as they relate to health effects.  They only refer to air pollution health effects, and that incompletely, and, as noted in issue number 8, neglect the impacts of nuclear releases to drinking water, tritium, chemicals, soil absorption.  Cumulative effects are really important, the airborne pollutants ending up in the food sources, transportation risks, waste risks, et cetera.


Just as important, accurate information must form the foundation of a good plan.


Some background material in the Senes materials contains misleading and inaccurate information.  For example, it is implied there can be a comparison between municipal landfills which can be rehabilitated to parks and natural areas where people can walk and play, and the storage of nuclear waste, which must be kept secure from public contact for up to a million years.


As well, it is stated that low- and intermediate-level non-fuel nuclear waste only needs to be secured safely for about a hundred years, when some components, particularly the medium-level non-fuel nuclear wastes, must be stored just as long as the high-level waste, many thousands of years.


An example of specific important up-to-date information that was left out of the analysis and planning regards the mining of uranium.  In 2004, Health Canada concluded that effluent from uranium mines and mills in Canada met the definition of toxic substances for the purposes of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, and in 2006, the federal Minister of Environment used his powers under section 46 of the Environmental Protection Act to ensure that mining companies reported such releases to the National Pollutant Release Inventory.


The background information completely ignored such easy to access information as Health Canada's environmental and workplace health website information, which clearly lays out the importance of environmental health impacts of nuclear electricity.


For example, assessing the environmental health impacts of nuclear electricity generation in Canada requires that impacts from each relevant part of the nuclear fuel cycle be considered, and contains many cautions regarding all these parts.


The Pembina report also contains excellent up-to-date information that the consultant could have used.  Such up-to-date information is important, as uranium mining and milling operations release radionuclides, volatile organic compounds, smog and acid rain precursors, and greenhouse gases into the atmosphere, and fish and wildlife and plants in the vicinity of uranium mines have been contaminated by radioactive materials.  It also poses a risk to consumers nearby.  As well, large quantities of radioactive and conventionally hazardous waste rock and tailings will require care virtually forever.  Mining impacts will increase with the use of lower grade ores as supplies of the higher grade uranium are completed.


Issue number 10:  Do IPSP targets, particularly that for maximum targets for nuclear power, allow the flexibility required to adapt the plan over time to reflect future domestic and international improvements in levels and forms of protection for human health and safety and the environment.  


OPA's reliance on the current health and safety laws and regulations end on the individual projects only, and on the individual project proponent's presumed compliance.  This fails to adequately respond to advice from its sustainability advisory committee to go beyond the current legal regulatory regime.  


As noted, this shows a less than precautionary approach to health and safety protection which needs -- they need to address.


However, the reliance on the maximum use of nuclear power and the huge investments this will involve and relatively immediate decisions being made may allow for nuclear plants and technology that will not meet upgraded international and domestic environmental standards, standards that might well disallow certain work and community risks, and do not allow nuclear plants to be built or existing ones to operate.


In fact, the issue of Chalk River nuclear plant and its closure by the CNSC due to safety concerns points to an increased vigilance by the nuclear regulator and the need for a precautionary approach to public health and safety when planning for extended plant life operations and new nuclear facilities.


And, lastly, has the IPSP been developed with meaningful public consultation?  In particular, did the consultation process reflect the public's high level of concern for the protection of human health and safety and environmental sustainability?  Did the process incorporate perspectives that address these issues broadly and from the perspective of communities that may be particularly affected?


While the OPA did deal in a more direct way, but obviously from Monday's discussions not necessarily complete way, with certain regions and communities - at York it was complete, but with the First Nations, that remains a question - overall the public's high level of concern for the protection of health, safety and environmental sustainability were expressed by those of us representing the broader public.  


But the form of the OPA's consultation failed to allow for real dialogue between the OPA and the broader public, and resulted in a plan that minimized our input and concerns.  They mentioned them, but they did not reflect them.


We have commented on these flaws throughout the process, and I thought I'd read a few quotes that we made through the year about the supply mix report.


We are disappointed with the short time frame of the OPA's work, and, most importantly, with the lack of open, transparent, fulsome public consultation.  The OPA's online poll regarding views and values of 879 Web-literate persons excluded the vast majority of Ontarians.


The basic questions were leading, focussing over and over on need.  The poll language was far too complex, and, together with the questions, reflected an obscure OPA consultant-developed process which was based on "expert mental model."  It sort of smacks of mental sort of engineering.


In September one-on-one meetings with 38 special interest and expert groups, including several broad-based environmental groups considered to have expertise and represent the public view, were on short notice - this was the summer - were quite inadequate in length, and lacked the opportunity for debate.  


Again, the one-on-one, 45 telephone interviews of 60 senior power industry people and special interest groups were completely inadequate, as was the subsequent day-long meeting of 30 of these people to distill their views and the views of 870 Web-polled participants.  Rather, they reflected the agenda of the OPA, who wanted to move it along, in an almost and complete exclusion of the broader public.  


All of the foregoing speak to a need to the Board to give weight and opportunities for public views.  We agree with Mr. Cowan that the process should be moulded by the public and not the bureaucrats.


To conclude, PCWO has appreciated this opportunity to present to this Panel on behalf of a considerable constituency of Ontarians.  We are hopeful that our comprehensive concerns or issues will be of help to the Board in Phase II so that it may ensure that the best electricity plan for Ontario, a far-sighted and visionary, yet precautionary plan, protects the health, safety, and living environment of Ontarians today and far into the future.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Janes.  Ms. Dover?  Mr. Crocker, do you have any questions?


MR. CROCKFORD:  I don't have any questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Quesnelle has a question. 


QUESTIONS BY THE PANEL:  

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, just excuse me for a minute.  I'm just referencing back to some earlier script here.


I wonder if you could expand on, Mrs. Dover, the element that you raised on the streamlining and your concerns as to how things that may not be included in an environmental assessment at a later date because of their inclusion here in this review, how you would remedy your concern.  How would you put forward something on the Issues List?  I think you made reference to should the Issues List reflect that possibility, and I'm just wondering if you have any suggestions.


MS. DOVER:  If I understand correctly, your suggestions are what concrete measures the Board might take in order to prevent an undermining of the veracity --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mm-hm.


MS. DOVER:  -- of other regulatory processes?  I think, as part of my brain contemplates an answer, I will preface that by saying that is exactly, I think, why it needs to be on the Issues List.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MS. DOVER:  I think that how the section 8 process in the context of the review functions -- needs to be subject to a thorough dialogue amongst the parties about its relationship to the other regulatory regimes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MS. DOVER:  Now, from a selfish perspective, from the context of the environment, we are accustomed to the processes around environmental reviews.  The Environmental Bill of Rights grants us certain procedural rights that are both informational, as well as a staged process for comments, as well as, really key here in the context of procedural fairness, the EBR generally provides us with a process to appeal decisions.


So we're acclimatized to having those forms of procedural rights.  In terms of other procedural issues, as well as substantive issues, we are accustomed to -- you know, regardless of whether you're talking about Ontario water, the OWRA or other forms of environmental regulations, we're acclimatized to interacting with the substantive protection provisions in those regulatory environments.


And those substantive protection provisions reflect government priorities around categories of environmental concern, and so a key one, because I know it has been a pointed discussion within the report, has to do with this issue of air emissions.  


So there has been a recent update to the air emissions regulatory framework that reflects a long-term strategic perspective of the environment that minimizes, in a staged way, the emissions from certain industries.  And that regulation squarely applies to various forms of production within the electricity sector.


Now, that regulation was premised on successful lobbying work done by the Ontario Medical Association, and others, that clearly quantified the number of deaths in Ontario as a result of air pollution, and the government response was this approach.


Now, in the context of the review of the IPSP, what we're saying is, Let's ensure this the IPSP does not undermine those.  So I guess my answer is really twofold. One is let's ensure that where project-specific reviews occur, that there are at least parallels in procedural rights and substantive levels of protections that would otherwise be available through other regulatory processes that would apply to the project. 


But, secondly, referring now to Section 7, let's ensure, in the context of the review, that the IPSP is at least consistent and, better yet promotes, the broad regulatory objectives that underlie those other regulatory regimes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So would it be sufficient at this point then, as an issue, to identify your concerns or an issue that would highlight any project specifics within this plan and ask how it is going to dovetail, given the streamlining intent of the Regulation?


MS. DOVER:  Yes.  So in the IPSP -- or in the OPA draft Issues List, they presented to you an argument that they had faithfully translated the obligations in the Regulation into the Issues List.  And we would respectfully submit that's not true, that what is in the Issues List is Section 7, while they've omitted to list Section 8. 


Now, how you approach the overall structure of the Issues List I leave to your better wisdom.  What we have attempted to do in the Proposed Issues List is to suggest, from an environmental perspective, what the relevant issues are.  So if there is a broad -- if there is a very broad and general approach that you take to the Issues List which, for example, adds Section 8 to the overall Issues List, then we would hope that at a later time that there would be further direction from the Board as to how to structure those environmental concerns.


So that means that the structure that we've given you today in 11 points provides for a bit of a framework for review in the broad total environmental approach to the plan.


Where the greater direction from the Board may come in respect of project-specific reviews, then we would submit that it would be necessary to have an issue which ensures that the integration of the regulatory regimes is an issue that's canvassed in that context.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


MR. BALSILLIE:  Thank you very much for your presentation.  My question is one related to ultimate direction.  As I look at your suggested issues from your original presentation and your presentation today, it would appear that you would be looking for most of the power to come from conservation and renewable supply. 


Your comments would tend to say that you're very skeptical of nuclear, for a whole host of reasons which you've listed.  And you didn't talk about replacement of coal, and I'm assuming you've taken that as a given.  And you didn't talk about natural gas. 


So I guess I'm looking for the megawatts, and I wonder if -- you talk about a road map, and you talk about health, safety and environmental sustainability, and the difficulty over the years has always been the merging of these two issues.  Where are the megawatts?  Where's the health, safety and environmental sustainability?


I wonder if you have any guidance for the Board with regard to the conundrum that you must see us in.


MS. JANES:  It's a terrible conundrum to be in.  And as one of the presenters indicated, there are reasons why we are in this conundrum, due to past decisions that were made, that might not have been made at one point in time.


And everybody has that -- we're all wrestling with that, but I think several of the presenters have been talking about this.  And we felt that was their mandate, to do -- to deal with the whole issue of sustainability and that gap.


But what comes to mind when people ask me this is that, should you go ahead with nuclear, it's another ten years before you're going to get anything on line, anyway.  You've got a group of people who are going to be in front of the Board who can tell you of various plans whereby you can increase your conservation efforts.  


You know, the Regulation or the Minister's Directive said that was just a minimum and that they want more.


And things are moving along quickly.  As one presenter said, there are innovative things coming along that we don't -- you know, we're just beginning to see on the horizon.


I suspect that because it will take ten years to get the nuclear on tap properly, that it's -- that you have this time frame, but the problem is that if you forestall that, if you forego those options to see if there is change, to discuss those changes, to see how likely they are going to be, how reasonable they are, by allowing the OPA to go straight into this plan that treats it -- you know, goes right for the max.  


You know, that's a maximum limit that the Directive has said for nuclear.  That's not a minimum, that's a maximum.


So I think that -- this is our problem, this is our dilemma, is how do we -- how can we be reasonable about this?  How can we -- but how can we be true to ourselves that we are not creating a situation where there is, number one, no money for the rest of this, because it will require a fair amount of amount of money to do your conservation efforts in a broad, public way?  You know, how are you going to deal with that?


So it is a problem.  We're all in it together.  But I think this forum is a time and opportunity where we can take a closer look at that, a closer look at the reasonableness of the OPA plan, to see whether we're, number one, forestalling the other, but, even worse, opening ourselves up to some risks.


We have just become aware of the risks at Chalk River.  You know, we've just become.  Other people were aware, but we weren't thinking.  We weren't really aware of that 50-year-old plant and what was happening there.


We have evidence that the Nuclear Waste Management Organization, as well as the OPA, put out, you know, information that says there's no problem at Pickering.  But there's been a ten-year study at Pickering that shows that that is an earthquake area.  My husband's a geologist, so I know that there have been quakes that are increasing in their intensity at Pickering.  


So you have those things going on and you have some regulatory things going on.  They may not allow that to -- you know, to open up again, as they didn't the "B" plant.


You've got the Lake Huron problem, which Nuclear Waste Management Organization said, Oh, we've done all the studies.  And when you looked into those studies, you find background information from their own person, Mr. Sykes -- Professor Sykes, that says, Sorry, you haven't done any studies on this.


You know, that kind of thing, we really need to look at those issues, be aware of them, and look at the worst-case scenario, and then plan for the best-case scenario.


MS. DOVER:  If I may, with your indulgence, supplement Mrs. Janes' response by saying that we understand from our colleagues we're required by the rules of our participation in this proceeding to be working cooperatively with the other groups who represent a similar perspective, and we certainly will continue to do that, as there is the development of, however it gets phrased, an alternative plan.  We will take very serious consideration.  We will notify the Board on what our support is, or level of support, and so we will megawatt with you in the future.


Secondly, however, I think that environmental concerns will, in some degree, be synonymous with your evaluation.  There is an old-school thinking that the environment and the economy are a dialectic.  It is a false dialectic.  We understand now with new thinking that, in the words of Robert F. Kennedy, Jr., environmental harm is a form of debt financing that future generations pay for.


So the analysis of what is economically prudent is synonymous with an environmental review.  That is part of the task of the Board, is to determine what is -- what of the environmental concerns qualify for that analysis under cost-effective, environmentally prudent.  


To the extent that environmental concerns can be considered externalities to that review, we hope that we have provided you with a framework for how to contemplate what the ultimate impacts on the environment are as a distinct and independent consideration.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Janes, Ms. Dover.  That completes our morning session.  We will break now for --


MS. LEA:  Madam Chair, I have one matter to put on the record before you rise.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Ms. Lea.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MS. LEA:  We have had another volunteer to change their time slot, and I wanted to put it on the record so that people listening to the hearing know what's going on.  The Ontario Waterpower Association, originally scheduled for Friday morning, has asked that -- has agreed to move to Thursday if we can accommodate their time frame.  


I propose that the Ontario Waterpower Association presentation follow the presentation of the Council of Canadians Thursday morning, to be followed by Ontario Power Generation, and to be followed by the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, so the APPrO submission.


So I think -- I haven't -- I don't know if there are other people who have given me a call, but I did receive that one.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  We will now break until 1:30.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:14 p.m.


--- Resumed at 1:32 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Did any matters come up during the break?  Hearing none, then we'll proceed with our next submission, which is the City of Toronto, represented by Ms. Mitchell?


MS. MITCHELL:  Mr. Ahab Abdel-Aziz is here, and he'll be doing the bulk of the presentation at the beginning.  I'm here, as well, thank you, Madam Chair.  Also, Howard Kislowicz, from Heenan Blaikie, is here, Michael Smith and Lorraine Sears-Scully, both from the City of Toronto. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 


MR. ABDEL-AZIZ:  Good afternoon.  My name is Ahab Abdel-Aziz, and, as Ms. Mitchell said, I'm counsel for the City of Toronto.  My co-counsel is Ms. Mitchell.  I will be organizing my comments to you in the following manner.


I propose to begin with some observations about the nature of the process we're engaged in and about some concerns with respect to the requests that have been made by OPA as regards the Issues List and the question of jurisdiction.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. CROCKFORD:  (Inaudible.)


MR. ABDEL-AZIZ:  Yes, I plan to get to that.


MR. CROCKER:  Right.  Sorry.  You've handed up hard copies of your PowerPoint?


MR. ABDEL-AZIZ:  Yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Perhaps we should mark that.  That's Exhibit 11 -- sorry, 10.  Exhibit 10.

EXHIBIT NO. 10:  CITY OF TORONTO POWERPOINT PRESENTATION


MR. ABDEL-AZIZ:  My plan is to speak to some concerns and offer some observations with respect to the nature of the process we're engaged in and some of the concerns that I'm sure you've been hearing from a number of the intervenors, offer some comments about the role and the jurisdiction of the Board in both this process and in the proceedings, ultimately, and then we move on to some discussion about the City of Toronto and its role to set the framework for our comments addressed to the City's issues and elements of both the Directive and Reg. 424/04 that the City's issues speak to.


So that's by way of overview.  And, as counsel for the Board rightly noted, you have the hard copy of the PowerPoint presentation, which is up on the screen, and there is, as well, a short summary of the City's issues that Ms. Mitchell will be speaking to that seeks to cross-reference those issues with the index that was prepared by the OEB Staff, for the sake of convenience.


I start by offering this observation.  It was a little bit surprising, perhaps, for me to see the level of contention or concern that was expressed by a number of the intervenors and participants in what really is a process to assist everyone in getting along with the proceeding.  


What we're really doing here is determining issues, and we're determining issues for the purpose of enabling the Board and OPA to understand better where people are coming from, what people intend to say, in a substantive way, to either support the conclusion that you're ultimately going to be called upon to make, or take issue with it; at the same time, if you turn your mind to the Rules of Procedure of the Board, at the same time to assist the people that are participating, and doing so in a manner that's organized and effective in getting their point across to the Board in the way that the Board needs to receive it.


And having given that some thought, I sort of see why there is a bit of a frenzy of activity around this Issues List.  What seems to me to drive it is this.  In the context of setting the issues and getting organized, the OPA has offered an analysis that's substantive, and that is not uncontroversial, of the Board's jurisdiction.  


That issue is a core issue that will have an impact ultimately on just about everything that happens in this proceeding.  It will have an impact on what arguments people can make, what interests or how they represent their interests, and what evidence they can present and you can receive.


And that argument about jurisdiction is not one that was brought before you in the way you would expect it to be brought.  I understand that OPA has some concerns and has a view and has an argument, and you would have expected that if a determination was going to be called for on something that's such an important issue, it wouldn't be raised collaterally in the context of another exercise; you would bring a motion.  You would give the City of Toronto and all the other participants and the Board a notice that says that says, We are going to call upon the Board to make this very important decision about the constraints on its jurisdiction, and so be prepared.  Bring all of the materials that you want to rely on to make your arguments, whether there are points of law or facts you want to rely on to illustrate your points, and set an appropriate amount of time for your presentations to address this very important issue before the Board.


In fact, what really occurred is we were invited to come and deal with an Issues List and to speak to our issues and their importance.  And we heard some very substantial submissions that said the Board's jurisdiction is really constrained.  And I have to tell you, the submissions you heard on points of law are not points on which everybody agrees.  I mean, they're at best arguments on which reasonable minds can differ.  They're not conclusions that are inescapable.


On the basis of that narrow construction of your jurisdiction, the OPA then invites you to go the next step, which is to effectively make a preliminary ruling that whole families of questions may not be considered in these proceedings, which consequently means whole families of evidence may not be received and considered in the proceedings.  And that's a very serious step, and it's a step that courts and administrative tribunals are consistently discouraged from making on a preliminary basis, in the absence of a factual matrix that would help you appreciate the meaning of the abstract arguments that are being put forward and how they affect how you exercise that jurisdiction.  


And it's an argument that, quite frankly, needs to be determined on a fair notice.  


So, I offer these comments to say this.  A bit of the scrambling that I expect you're seeing before you on what people are going to be allowed to say and not allowed to say, and a bit of the tension, really arises from that concern for fairness that participants and intervenors have with the approach that's being proposed, because people are looking at this and saying, Well, there are two things that are problematic here.  One is, if I was going to have a motion about jurisdiction, I would have come prepared to do that.  No one gave me that notice.


Secondly, the only party that has evidence in front of you right now in any substantive way is OPA, and that evidence enables OPA's arguments on questions of jurisdiction, because questions of law are not encouraged to be determined in an abstract way, but they need a factual matrix and a context.


The rest of us don't have our evidence before you, so it's very, very difficult to make a compelling and thorough argument that says, Look, here is the evidence I am planning to present, or I'm putting before you.  Here's the question that evidence answers; and then here is the way in which that question assists you in making the determination that you're called upon by the Legislature to make under section 25.30(5), which is whether or not you should approve the application that OPA put before you; and then here is how it relates to the criteria in 25.30(4) that you're asked to use by the Legislature in making that ultimate determination.


To do that effectively, and to do it fairly, people need notice that this is what's going to be happening; and, secondly, they need an opportunity to put a factual matrix before you.


So my friend -- and he's my very good friend, George Vegh, for whom I have a lot of respect, and I don't often disagree with George lightly on issues, but I do disagree with him on this one. 


When he says to you, This is really a fork in the road, you've got decide this minute what you're going to do about your jurisdiction, and you've got to tell people right now that you are not going to receive their issues unless they're framed in the exact words of the Directive and in the exact words of the Regulation, I see that as neither a correct way to proceed nor a necessary way to proceed.


There's nothing that stops the Board from receiving the issues in the voice of the people whose interests are being represented in relation to the IPSP, albeit organizing them in an efficient way to enable presentation and to enable the receipt of the evidence in a way that's orderly and to make argument in a way that's orderly, and at the same time leave it open to OPA, at an appropriate moment, whether they think the appropriate moment is a preliminary motion on jurisdiction or an argument in the context of the proceeding itself, to say, Your jurisdiction should be determined by you to be constrained in this way, and these -- this body of evidence you ought not to receive, or this body of issues you ought not to consider.


So the ability to achieve the efficiency that OPA is arguing for, while at the same time achieving the fairness that other participants are arguing for, are not mutually exclusive, as I think was presented, or I took to be the import of the presentation of my friend George Vegh.


So having offered those as my preliminary comments, what I'm going to do is move very briefly just to  illustrate for you that the issue of the Board's jurisdiction is not one that, to put it in the vernacular, is a slam-dunker in the way that's argued by OPA.


I don't think it's unfair to say that OPA's argument really comes down to this.  There are two parallel statutory conferrals of jurisdiction, one on OPA, one on the Board.  And the statutory conferral of jurisdiction on the OPA is one that entails a specific conferral of discretion, and the Board sits in a review capacity that is similar to a court sitting on judicial review of an administrative statutory decision.  


In doing that, the Board ought to be very narrow in the questions it can ask, and the issues it's prepared to take, in criticizing or assessing the job that's been done by OPA, and then, in support of that, all of that is offered in support of the elimination of issues.


A couple of things really ought to be highlighted about that.  Firstly, the Legislature has not conferred concurrent jurisdiction on OPA and OEB.  That simply hasn't happened. OEB has a very specific jurisdiction in 25.30(5).  We're here because OPA made an application for approval.  They're required to come to you and say, Approve my application, approve my IPSP, in the same way that a licensee might apply for approval from the Board or for a licence from the Board.


The only body that's making that decision is the Board. You're not sitting on appeal or on review from somebody else's decision, which is typically the context in which one raises judicial review-type constraints.  You say you're sitting on appeal, but you've got to respect the decision made at first instance.


Well, this is your decision at first instance:  I either approve or I don't approve.  


The Legislature knows quite well how to put in statutes words that protect the jurisdiction of an administrative decision-maker or a tribunal.  It's called a privative clause.  There are hundreds of them in legislation across Canada.  It's a tried and true way to protect an administrative tribunal and to get it, this curial deference that OPA is asking for. 


Well, there is no such privative clause in the Electricity Act that protects in any fashion OPA's exercise of judgment from substantive and real review and potential interference by a Board that takes a different position of whether or not OPA has done its job and has done it right.  That privative clause is nowhere to be found.


The second thing that's not found and legislatures really know how to do is an express conferral of discretion.  OPA has argued for broad discretion.  When the Legislature wants to give discretionary powers to an administrative decision-maker, it always says that very explicitly. 


So it would say things like, OPA in its sole discretion.  You find that language again in hundreds of statutes.  It is not here.


So the two fundamental propositions urged on you about this being something in the nature of judicial review, and this being something that's protected by a requirement of curial deference, and this being something that entails discretionary powers, have really no foundation in the legislative language, and they also have no foundation in the common law.


Now, curial deference is what is argued for, and that really means that when a court sits on appeal or on a review of the work of an expert administrative tribunal, when a judge is doing that or a series of judges, they have to make some room for the expertise of that administrative tribunal and not interfere with it lightly, unless that tribunal made a mistake in jurisdiction or an obvious mistake of law.  And there are some constraints on a court's doing that.


But to say that an expert administrative tribunal, which is you, labours under those same constraints is to turn the proposition upside down on its head.  That's not the law.


So I don't offer these comments to you to say this is the reason why today you should decide the jurisdictional issue against OPA.  I offer them to illustrate that these are not matters that are free from doubt.  They're matters that need to be addressed carefully, because they have a serious implication for the proceeding and for your discharge of duty, and they are not matters that are determined appropriately in this proceeding without you having received the evidence and the fullness of the arguments in support. 


And as to your jurisdiction to receive the evidence, the OEB Act is -- couldn't be more clear.  Subsections 19(1) and 19(6) confer exclusive jurisdiction on the Board with respect to all matters that have been relegated to you by the Legislature for determination.  


In addition, you are given the express jurisdiction and power to determine any issue of fact and law.


And Ms. Mitchell just pointed out that that was part of the hand-up that was handed to you.  It's just those particular provisions.


So you have the exact opposite power in your legislation to the constraint argued for by OPA.  You have the express power to make any determination of fact and law.  That's what the Legislature says. 


So now, at a high level, what is really the nature of the exercise you are engaged in?  OPA is right in saying the directions from the Minister, the Directive, is really the government policy.  They're high level.  They're not detailed, prescriptive in how you make your determinations, how you engage in your consideration.  They're policy goal posts.  


And together with those, you've got Reg. 424, which is incorporated by the seventh direction in the Minister's letter, which speaks to methodological requirements.  And those are two sets of requirements, and they also form the criteria against which -- or part of the criteria against which you are asked to judge the IPSP and to determine the question of whether or not you will approve it, as you are being asked to do.


Saying that is not the same thing as saying that the way in which OPA has asked itself the questions and the way in which OPA has determined that the evidence ought to be considered and assessed and the evidence that OPA addressed or assessed are the only ways that are open to you to consider the issues or open to someone else to make their arguments as to whether or not OPA has met its requirements.


So no one argues with OPA that, yes, that the statutory criteria is clear.  It is the Directive, and it is Reg. 424, and it is economic prudence and cost-effectiveness.  But we didn't need to bring all of the parties here in a room and take up your valuable time for a week for the sole purpose of copying the Minister's letter and copying Reg. 424 and saying, There you go.  There are your issues.  We go from here. 


If you look at the Board's Rules, we're here because you need to have a better understanding and OPA needs to have a better understanding of the particular ways in which people will say that OPA did not meet those requirements, in their own context, from their own interest.  That's really the purpose of the Issues List.


And so, in our submission, it really does not serve the purpose for which we're engaging in this exercise to simply reproduce the Directive and the Regulations, and it's important, while organizing like issues in a like manner and the presentations and so on, to also enable people to present their issues in the manner that they see best serves their interest and the manner best fits their arguments.  


One of the things that we will be speaking to is that the issues we're raising encompass a lot of the criteria under one issue and don't necessarily fit neatly into an issue in the way OPA raised it, and it is not required to do that.


I'm going to turn next to speak to -- may I just check on the time?  Excuse me for one minute...


The City of Toronto is a bit of a unique participant.  It is a municipality that accounts for about 20 percent of peak demand in Ontario.  It also has a pretty high level of sophistication in its exercise of its public policy mandate as regards questions that are put before OPA and before you here.  


So as regards questions relating to renewable energy, the nature of the energy, the distribution of generation within the City, and so on, the City has policies and has initiatives that are under way and well developed.


The City has the climate change, clean air, and   a Sustainable Energy Plan which sets out a number of goals, including the objective of rendering Toronto the renewable energy capital of Canada.  The City also has, as part of its policies and its stated position and intention, a direction of relying in an increased manner on distributed generation, so small-scale generation within the boundaries of the City of Toronto.


In addition to that, the City has been through the preparation of its Official Plan, and, at the request of the province, has identified Hydro corridors and has brought to bear in its land-use planning exercises considerations that relate to health concerns and considerations that relate to environmental protection.


All of these policy mandates and initiatives by the City speak in a variety of ways to the very issues that OPA was required to address in the IPSP, and so on our next slide, which is before you, you will see we have identified the specific goals in the Directives that the City's issues address, and the specific portions of Reg. 424 that the City's issues speak to.  And I won't read that to you - it's there for you to review in paragraph 8 - but I'll seek to synthesize it in the comments I will make next.


If you're looking for a place in the presentation, I'm at slide 9.


And this really is the nub of the issue.  If you look at what the IPSP does with respect to transmission and transmission to downtown Toronto, to central Toronto, there is not a solution that is developed, not a plan that is offered, to say, Here is the solution for the transmission requirements for the City of Toronto.  


What there is is a proposal to engage in the development of a plan at a future date.  That's what we've been given.  There's an identification of options and a deferral of the plan to a future date.


The first question that the City raises in these proceedings is:  Does that meet section 1 of Regulation  424.  Section 1 says:  You will develop and submit a plan that deals with the transmission.  Have they done that?


The second concern related to that is that in developing that plan, the OPA has a number of requirements resting upon it today, not at some future date that they can defer it to.  Those include consultation with the affected parties.  Well, if you've never taken your plan to a conclusion, which they didn't, how do you have meaningful consultation, which is really one of the problems that the City is having?


And so if you look at the index, just the index alone, for Exhibit C, which is all the consultative documents, you'll see that notably absent is a consultative document that addresses consultation with the City of Toronto on the transmission plan that the City feels has not been developed, or at least we'll be submitting ultimately has not been developed.


The other obligations that rest on OPA have to do with ensuring that the plan for this transmission line that they are to develop facilitate the use of renewable energy, address issues related to congestion.  These are the very matters that the City of Toronto has policies and plans and initiatives in place to address, renewable energy and distributed generation.


If you go to Exhibit E, which deals with transmission, you will see that OPA has addressed renewable energy in connection with transmission in a number of other locations and municipalities, but they haven't done it as regards the City of Toronto.  That's not even one of the chapters.


And so even though they are specifically required to incorporate in their transmission planning the use of renewable energy in those places that offer the best opportunities, and even though the City of Toronto has a specific policy mandate, an initiative and a plan to use those renewable energies and distributive generation within the City of Toronto, it's not even a chapter in Exhibit E.


When you also look at the environmental consideration or the description that -- I'm coming to the end of my comments, in case I'm testing the boundaries of the allotted time.  If you look at the substance of the submission with respect to transmission, the discussion of environmental consideration is perfunctory.


It effectively says there are no other options to consider, so there is no environmental consideration of the other options that needs to take place, and then, in response to concerns about environmental impact, what I heard my friend George Vegh say is, Let's defer those.  Those are matters for consideration when a project goes to an environmental assessment hearing.  


Well, that's the precise opposite of the obligation that OPA is under, because, under Regulation 424, if the project is one that will be subject to an environmental assessment, if it's that kind of project, then OPA is expressly required today to put forward a rationale that covers the environmental impacts in the plan, and to consider the environmental impacts in the plan.  


So it turns the logic on its head to say, because it will be considered later, we don't have to deal with it now.


And I can tell you one of the real concerns to have City of Toronto is that its land-use planning policy that addresses Hydro corridors and environment and health concerns is nowhere reflected, considered or addressed or discussed in the transmission plan.


So, at a high level and as best as we can, what I've tried to convey to you today in the comments is really this.  This, in our view, is not the right time, place or way to make a determination of the boundaries of the Board's jurisdiction, that it is restrictive of both the Board's powers and the fair participation of people in this proceeding.


It's not to say, I suppose, that if someone came to you with an issue that was so outlandish and so clearly outside of any possible construction of your jurisdiction that you are able to say, Look, I can't imagine any evidence or any argument that you could present at the hearing that would persuade me that this is within any construction of my jurisdiction, that you couldn't say, You need to rephrase that, or you need to deal differently with your issue.


And that, I think, is legitimate.  But to make a determination that's final, that really cuts the map for this proceeding collaterally in this way, is really not fair to the participants, and it's dangerous.  


And, you know, the Supreme Court of Canada in the Trois-Rivieres case said an administrative tribunal can err much more easily by refusing to admit evidence that's potentially relevant than it can by admitting evidence that's potentially irrelevant, considering it on the merits, and then saying it's irrelevant.  And that's really the approach that I would encourage you to consider in dealing with this Issues List. 


There will be really just a minute that Ms. Mitchell will take to point you to the summary of the issues.  Our client's issues are in a letter that was submitted, and the entirety of the letter describes the concerns and the issues, not just the summary at the end of it.  But in order to assist OPA with its request that people relate their positions to particular criteria and to assist OEB with and request to relate the issues to the index they created, we've done that, both in the last slide that you have before you and in a concordance that has been handed up to you, as well.


So those are my comments, subject to your questions and the Board Staff's questions. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. MITCHELL:

MS. MITCHELL:  Thank you. I'm referring you to this slide 14 and the substance of slide 14, which sets out sort of a restatement, if you like, of the issues that have already been set out, as Mr. --


MS. NOWINA:  Dr. Balsillie can't see you.


MS. MITCHELL:  Oh, okay.  Well, I'll stand up.


MS. NOWINA:  I was wondering if you could shift over a little bit.


MS. MITCHELL:  Okay.  Then I'll stand up.


MS. NOWINA:  We were wondering if you could shift over a little bit. 


MS. MITCHELL:  Okay.  Yes, I don't need to be behind here.  I'd hate to deprive you of...


Is that better?  Thank you.


Basically, the issues as we have set them out in this slide and in that table of concordance are really no different in substance from what has been laid out in the letter that was submitted on December 13th. 


What we've attempted to do here, though, is with regard to the Revised Issues List and also with regard to the OEB's suggested index, is to try and kind of recategorize them, to some extent, and illustrate through that also what the interplay is between a number of the different criteria and a number of the different index subjects and the key issues for the City.


And it is not to say that issues couldn't be somehow subsumed under the existing Issues List.  It's just that that may not be the most effective and efficient way to do it for the purposes of the City's issues.  


And the other thing, too, is we want to make sure that in defining and applying the Issues List, the Revised Issues List, as it's been set out by the OPA, that the limitations that have been put forward, at least some of them that have been put forward by Mr. Vegh, such as characterizing certain aspects of transmission, for example, as being implementation rather than planning issues, that that not -- that decision not be made at this point, and that the whole entirety of what the City's issues are with respect especially to transmission gets incorporated and gets aired.


The issues, in essence, are these.  They basically relate to the interplay -- this is not a regional issue in the context of looking for issues that are outside the Directive or arguably outside the Directive.  


What we're talking about here is an entity whose very policies, public policies, public initiatives, accord directly with the very goals that have been set out in the Directive and the very goals which the OPA is attempting in the IPSP to effect.


So what we're really talking about is a concurrence of interest, and we're certainly not looking at anything outside the Directive, rather than another way of looking at making sure that the Directive and the requirements in it have been made out.


The outline of the issues themselves, I won't go through them all, but basically, in essence, they come down to this.  The first question is:  Does what amounts to in the City's mind a deferral of the planning of the transmission system as it relates to Toronto constitute a failure to meet the criteria of the plan in a number of ways?  And that can be, you know, Section 1 of 424/04, it can be goal 1, goal 2, the transmission issues, as they relate to renewable, as they relate to distributed generation, and as they relate to environmental and safety issues. 


The question is not one of whether or not that is a question for implementation.  The question is:  Was there and is there an obligation in the development of the plan itself to address those issues?  And if they have been, if also -- how will I put this?  


If not, for the part that is yet to be planned - not to be implemented, but yet to be planned - what assurance is there that the very requirements that are put forward in 424/04 and the other protections in the development of the IPSP carry forward or are deferred in tandem or something?


That's what the City is very concerned of is missing.


The subsequent articulations of Issue 2, Issue 3, and Issue 4 are, in effect, further breakouts of 424/04 and the substances.  So really what it boils down to is, whether or not you look at the table of concordance and put them through with the index, or whether you characterize them in terms of the Directive goals, the point is that the City's submissions in its letter all will fit into that.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Mitchell and Mr. Abdel-Aziz.  Do you have any questions, Mr. Crocker?


MR. CROCKER:  I do.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead. 


QUESTIONS BY BOARD STAFF:

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Abdel-Aziz, just so that -- I want to make sure I understand your opening submission.  Are you suggesting that at this stage there should be no attempt by the Board, by the Panel, to scope the issues, but, rather, they should be scoped, if at all, in the course of the hearing after all of the parties have an opportunity to present their position to the Board?


MR. ABDEL-AZIZ:  Well, I think the fair way to put it is this.  What I'm suggesting is that if by scoping the issues we mean organizing people's and the intervenors' submissions and OPA's submissions and positions and evidence presentation in relation to aggregated issues, so that we all know where we're going, I don't think that's problematic.  I think that's the purpose of the exercise.


If by scoping the issues we mean making a substantive determination as to what the Board's jurisdiction is on a matter that's now contentious, and then making a ruling in advance that evidence will not be received without having had a motion to argue that point, then, yes, our position is it's inappropriate at this juncture to make that determination of jurisdiction and to make a ruling that excludes evidence and issues without those issues having had any fair opportunity to be aired.


So if after the Board has made a ruling on a proper motion, on proper notice, having received submissions as to what its jurisdiction is, then that next step might be an appropriate one.  But at this juncture, it seriously threatens error that could lead the Board into nothing less than failing to meet the -- you know, the very statutory conferral of jurisdiction that's been made upon it.


MR. CROCKER:  The sessions this week, however, have provided all of the parties an opportunity to make the submissions you're talking about, perhaps not supply the evidence, but certainly to make the submissions that you're talking about.  Do you not feel that's sufficient?


MR. ABDEL-AZIZ:  Actually, I disagree wholeheartedly.  If I am to be asked to appear on a motion to determine something as serious as the Board's jurisdiction, there has to be a notice.  I mean, these are not requirements I'm making up.  These are requirements of the law.  


I should receive a notice that says, The Board on this week is going to be determining the question of its jurisdiction.  Here is the position that's being put forward, the question it will answer.  You need to bring your evidence, your factum of law and reserve sufficient time to make those arguments.


That's -- I mean, quite -- with all due respect, that was not the party we were invited to.  We were invited to come to speak to questions relating to the issues.  We reserved 30 minutes to do that, and we had not received the notice that would have been required for a motion of that nature.  So I don't think the parties have been given a fair opportunity.  


I know people have been scrambling to deal with the questions of jurisdiction because of the way OPA has cast the issue around the creation of the Issues List, but that's just as a consequence of what I submit to you is a collateral raising of the issue, rather than the way in which it's supposed to be raised.


MR. CROCKER:  Dealing, then, with your summary of issues, can you give me a sense, please, as to how specific you think OPA had to be to satisfy your concerns about transmission with respect to the City?  How have they fallen short and what were you expecting of them?


MR. ABDEL-AZIZ:  I'll do my best, but, again, with all due respect, your question really says:  What is your evidence going to be at the hearing and what is your argument going to be?  


That's a tall order to answer in one question with seconds left, but what I'll say is this.  There are clear requirements that a plan be developed and the OPA, in its own words, says a plan has not been developed.  We plan to develop one in a future.  


There are clear requirements that there be consultation, and there is evidence of all sorts of extensive consultation with all sorts of other parties other than the municipality that represents 20 percent of the peak demand in Ontario.


There are specific requirements that the plan for the transmission address issues of encouraging the use of renewables, dealing with congestion, and the City of Toronto has very relevant policies and facts that deal directly with those issues.  There is evidence that the OPA has addressed all sorts of other similar issues in other jurisdictions and with other municipalities, but not the City of Toronto.


And there is a requirement today on OPA to address environmental issues as it relates to these transmission lines, and, again, there is no evidence that they've addressed those.  


I don't think that at the end of the day we're here to make an argument that is remote or removed, in terms of relating the issues that the City brings to the table, to the mandate of OPA.  We're saying you have a very specific mandate, and we have some concerns about how that's being exercised.


MR. CROCKER:  One further question, back to my initial area of concern.  How are you suggesting, then, that this proceeding might go forward from here in order to deal with the question of issues or narrowing issues?


MR. ABDEL-AZIZ:  Well, I don't think I was making a suggestion on how we narrow issues.  What I was saying is if you test this from this perspective -- if this was a court of law, it would have a much higher degree of restriction resting on it, on what evidence it can receive, what issues it can address, because, as you know, Mr. Crocker, administrative tribunals have much broader jurisdiction to receive evidence, both in terms of type and a broader test for relevance of issues and evidence.


So even a court, which has an imperative to get rid of irrelevancies at an earlier stage, sets the bar very, very high for the striking of issues at an early stage.  You're well familiar with that.  If you bring a motion to strike the pleadings, which is a party's statement of its issues, if a court says, I will only strike it if it is plain and obvious, but there is no argument you can make at the ultimate hearing, your day in court, and no evidence you can bring that would persuade me that you're right or that this is within my jurisdiction, if you're able to say that about a party's issues today, then I suppose you would be reasonable in disregarding the issues or asking them to rephrase it.


But if sitting, looking at it, you're not able to say, in any way that's conclusive, that these issues are clearly outside of the jurisdiction of the Board, then I can only take you back to what the Supreme Court of Canada said.  The balance between efficiency and fairness is not an equilibrium before an administrative tribunal.  


It is heavily weighted towards fairness, which means you receive the evidence, you consider it, and the mischief in receiving evidence that ultimately you might decide people were wrong to argue on the basis of is less of a mischief, the lesser evil, than refusing to receive evidence in advance without having had the opportunity to consider.


My suggestion is you need to take a broad approach to permitting issues, and that there will be opportunities that OPA can take advantage of in later procedures to either bring a motion to determine jurisdiction or a motion to exclude evidence.


We don't need to pack all of those decisions in the simple procedural exercise for determining what the issues that people are going to organize their submissions on are.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


QUESTIONS BY THE PANEL:

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just following up on that point, and again on jurisdiction, and I certainly understand you're the point you're making as to allow the evidence to come forward, and then to make judgments on it at a later date as to whether or not you feel it's helpful to the Board or whatever, or within the jurisdiction.


Can I ask you to comment on what we may be faced in very early stage of this proceeding?  It's not so much the providing of evidence, but the requesting of evidence.  And the applicant has come before us with a scope of what they feel is one sufficient to meet their mandate, or suggesting the scope of this which would match their mandate.


Insomuch as we are looking for a balance of efficiency and fairness, how would you suggest the Panel operate in a situation where we are, very early on, looking to request not have to respond to the production of evidence or the production of more investigatory evidence? 


MR. ABDEL-AZIZ:  I want to start by saying this.  I'm live to the concern.  It's a serious concern, and if you look at it from OPA's perspective, you have 60-some-odd intervenors, and if you're inundated with an infinite number of issues and an inability to narrow your obligations to produce, it could be a very, very onerous world.  And so I am sensitive to the concern and I don't belittle it, and I think it could materially undermine the effectiveness of the proceeding if there was no way to deal with that.


But, happily, there are ways to deal with that, and it is neither necessary nor efficient nor effective to deal with that concern in the scoping of the issues today.  I will explain.


As I said before, if you want to make a considered decision on full argument about what the scope of the jurisdiction is, there is a procedure in the Board's Rules that allows OPA to bring that issue forward.  They can bring a preliminary motion.  We can all come prepared for that discussion, knowing that that's the discussion we're going to have.  


And, quite frankly, if that were to happen, one of the things people will be submitting to you is, on the basis of fairly lengthy lists of case law, a position that says that these important questions of jurisdiction and relevance need to be considered in a factual matrix and to ask you to consider whether you have that factual matrix.  


For the City of Toronto to make that kind of argument, some evidence is required for you to appreciate just how things connect.


Having said that, the other way to deal with it, apart from a preliminary motion on jurisdiction, is simply for OPA to say, I really don't see that that's relevant and I'm not prepared to make that production, because I think it's really irrelevant.  


Then it falls to the parties seeking production to say, Well, I think it's really important, I think it's really relevant, and I'll bring a motion. 


The reality is this is not the only forum that deals with these issues.  Courts of law deal with questions of relevance to production all the time.  And the general test is, if it's potentially relevant, potentially relevant, to something that's going to be in issue in the proceeding, then you produce, and then the relevance at the hearing is construed narrower.


Again, I understand that there is a need to balance efficiency and fairness.  If an error is to be made, the courts consistently say it's to be made in favour of fairness.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Mitchell, Mr. Abdel-Aziz.  That is the end of that portion, and we're moving now to the  Toronto Board of Trade.  Mr. Gregg.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. GREGG: 

MR. GREGG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


The comments that I'm about to make will align very nicely with the presentation just made by the City of Toronto.  And I'll begin by saying that the Toronto Board of Trade is one of Canada's largest local Boards of Trade or Chambers of Commerce, and our members are comprised of businesses of all types located within the City of Toronto.  We strongly feel that we're an objective voice that represents the business community. 


The comments brought to the Board in this presentation are a result of the background work done by the Electricity Task Force, which is a very unique group of diversified individuals representing the electricity sector and industry and business in Toronto. 


Now, we provide input to the Board, which then represents its members on electricity matters, which we feel are very key to the infrastructure of the City of Toronto and the businesses in Toronto.


In summary, the Board of Trade feels that the security of electricity supply concerns facing the City of Toronto and the GTA should be considered a stand-alone statement or item under Issue 1.6, and that is:  Does the IPSP strengthen the transmission system?  It is not currently there.


The presentation will focus then primarily on security of supply as a priority, and then electricity pricing.  I will conclude with comments about the fairness and effectiveness of the Procurement Processes also mentioned in the IPSP.


The Board of Trade also feels that the scope of the IPSP review by the OEB should not be expanded to the point where the hearing proceedings delay the implementation time lines outlined in the IPSP.


Now, referring to your index of submissions, this portion of my presentation fits into Part A, and that's IPSP issues, and the section is "specific issues" and the item is Item 14, "transmission".


And I'm going to talk about security of supply, and I think it's worthwhile defining the difference between security and reliability.  Security relates to the level of risk associated with sustaining continuous electricity supply.  Reliability means the performance of existing systems or components.  So what we're talking about here is the level of risk, security of supply.


As mentioned by the City, the GTA -- well, they didn't mention the GTA.  The GTA represents 40 percent of Ontario electricity demand, the City of Toronto represents 20 percent, and the downtown core itself represents 7 percent. These facts underline the significance of the load represented by the City and, in our mind, is the reason for a priority focus on the City's transmission systems.


Earlier in -- well, in 2007, we had a presentation by the Ontario Power Authority that showed clearly the need for a third supply point.  And, in fact, the filing in Exhibit "E" reconfirms that consideration of a third supply point to the City is necessary.


Now, Toronto is a home to many of the City's commercial, retail and industrial enterprises, as well as several national and international corporate offices.  The financial district is here, and it's a core component of the nation's economy and the province's economy. 


These entities, knowing -- or coming to understand that the security of Toronto's electricity supply is at risk, could take a serious look at the option of relocating it to another jurisdiction, thereby taking their jobs and economic output with them.


Catastrophic failure was mentioned earlier today, and should a catastrophic failure occur on one of the two existing transmission paths - that's either at Manby or Leaside - insufficient load-transfer capability exists to provide electricity to all of the affected area, leaving significant areas of the City without power. 


The Leaside path is the most vulnerable, as a failure could leave 300 megawatts of load in the downtown core without electricity for prolonged periods.  In fact, as the IPSP filing points out, Leaside did fail for a prolonged period in April of 1990, so it's not impossible. 


Now, although conservation and distributed generation will be components of the overall plan, they cannot provide a solution to mitigate the Leaside failure simply because of the technical constraints involved in the existing transmission system. 


As we all know, the risk of electricity system failure heightens in the summer during hot spells, where our demand now peaks.  In the recent years, we've been lucky and we have avoided blackouts, but we are constantly in a position of high risk.


Now, in the filing section -- in Exhibit "E", section 4.3.3 describes the security of supply in other major cities and displays the results graphically in figure 7.


Toronto is one of four cities in the high-load category, and it has the smallest number of supply paths, only two.  The next lowest number of supply points for a high-load city is seven.


Toronto, like a critical industrial production process, and like these other high load cities, needs redundant supply paths.  Section 4.3.3 also mentions a confidential study done by Hydro One that compares the supply grids from other cities to the one in Toronto, and points out that other cities have applied redundancy designs which protect them from prolonged outages.  


The Board of Trade recommends that the Energy Board obtain permission to review this study, if you haven't done so already.


Now, in terms of planning, in the filing there is a transmission solution project schedule, and it's in section 5.3.5 in figure 8.  It identifies the complex engineering work, environmental assessments, public consultations, and regulatory approvals that are needed to assess the three transmission supply path options for this third supply point, and to implement the best supply path alternative.


However, we feel it does not adequately establish the urgency of action that is necessary to expedite the immediate resolution of the situation in the City of Toronto.  Therefore, the Board of Trade recommends that the transmission system supplying central and downtown Toronto be considered a preferred implementation priority and a specific reference on the Issues List.


As a final note in this area, it is important to realize that NIMBY-ism that we have experienced to date, and may experience in the future, is a crippling barrier that must be overcome before any implementation can occur and that efforts - and these are consultation efforts that the City of Toronto has already mentioned - must begin immediately.


Now, I would like to move on to comments under item 17 of the specific issues section, and item 17 relates to environment, socio-economic impacts.  And here I will talk about electricity pricing and price projections.


The Board of Trade would also like to emphasize the importance of electricity pricing to the competitiveness and survival of Ontario's businesses, many of which are located in Toronto, as well as the economic growth of the province.


We are concerned that the IPSP has been developed in the absence of clearly stated economic goals and assumptions for the province.  It is inappropriate to design a long-term electricity plan in a vacuum without well-defined understanding of the kind of economy the power system is intended to serve.


For example, through much of the 20th century, Ontario's electricity system was developed substantially to foster industrial development in everything from forestry to mining to steel to automotive.   


The question is:  What kind of economy is the electricity system expected to supply and encourage through this century?  


No one knows from reading the IPSP, and this is problematic, we feel, and could be even dangerous.


We need to ensure the competitiveness of future business and not create a hindrance.  It is important to note that electricity is vital to the operation of all advanced technologies.  We've heard talk of the City of Toronto being an advanced energy or technology centre, but there are no benchmarks set in the IPSP about this.


While it is acknowledged that electricity prices from new power sources will inevitably be higher than from older sources, it is vital that we have a mix of power sources that offers business the most competitively priced and environmentally appropriate operating facilities.


Although the cost assumptions are tabulated in the IPSP, this is done only at a very high level, a first-order estimate level.  Sensitivities related to the additional cost of project delays and approval processes, as well as rising material and human resource expenditures, do not appear to have been considered.  The ranges of commodity prices used in the sensitivity analyses are not transparent and the cost of carbon has not been included.


Consequently, we believe that a rigorous economic impact analysis is missing from the IPSP and should be established as a separate item under issue 2, economic prudence and cost-effectiveness.


Finally, I would like to comment, under part B of the index, "Procurement Processes:  Issues", and on point 1, "Detail and Transparency".  As stated in the Issues List, the intent of the proposed Procurement Processes is to manage the electricity supply capacity and demand, including CDM, in accordance with the IPSP.  


In other words, the Procurement Processes should demonstrate fairness and effectiveness, as they facilitate implementation of the IPSP.  I think that's a point to focus on.  They should facilitate the implementation, encourage timeliness and the effective deployment of resources.


Consequently, the Board of Trade feels that the Board should ask the following questions as it examines the Procurement Processes.


One, are the CDM programs and funding sufficiently available and open to all energy service providers to ensure that the allocation and assignment of work and funds is done competitively and in a transparent, cost-effective manner?


Two, what is the appropriate approval process for the OPA policy approaches towards such things as load-serving entities, allocating costs for transmission corrections, and conservation?

    Point three, how do the three forums of Procurement Processes anticipated to be used by the OPA facilitate the development of a competitive market and price transparency in order to reduce reliance on central OPA procurement?


In conclusion, I emphasize again the Board of Trade feels that a priority must be placed on the electricity supply concerns facing the City of Toronto, and, as such, should be a specifically stated item on the Issues List, along with a rigorous economic analysis of the socio-economic impact of electricity price projections and IPSP costs.


This concludes my remarks.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Gregg.  Mr. Crocker.


QUESTIONS BY BOARD STAFF:

MR. CROCKER:  Sir, very briefly, can we accept the last two comments, plus your comments with respect to procurement, as the Board of Trade issues that you would like added to the list of issues?


MR. GREGG:  The questions about procurement?


MR. CROCKER:  The questions about procurement, plus the last two points you made about transmission and, yes, economic analysis.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Those will form the issues which you think should be added to the list?


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  Yes.  They should be added to the Issues List.


MR. CROCKER:  (off mic)


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Gregg.  We don't have any further questions.


MR. GREGG:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Our next submission is Northwatch, Ms. Agnolin.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. AGNOLIN:

MS. AGNOLIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and members of the Panel.  I would like to begin first by providing a very brief overview of Northwatch as an organization.  


Northwatch's participation as an intervenor in the demand supply hearing and in the development of the IPSP provides an example of its history of involvement in energy issues in the province.


However, I think it's important to note at the outset the geographical range and diverse membership that Northwatch represents in this particular hearing.  


Northwatch was founded in 1988 and is a coalition of community- and district-based environmental, social justice, and social development organizations.  It also includes many individuals.


Its primary purpose is to represent the public interest with respect to environmental protection, social justice, and resource management matters in northeastern Ontario.


Specific organizational members include, but are not limited to, Algoma and Manitoulin Nuclear Awareness , Algonquin Ecowatch, Clean North, Friends of the Temagami, Nippissing Environment Watch, North Bay Peace Alliance, Sudbury Naturalists, Sudbury Women's Centre, Temagami Wilderness Fund, and the Timmins Nuclear Awareness Committee.  Again, this is just a few of the many members.


The common thread throughout Northwatch's membership is a deep commitment to the region of northeastern Ontario and to the health, well-being and sustainability of the human and natural communities throughout that region.


Northwatch's membership base and area of interest is the land mass north of the French River, comprised of the districts of Nippissing, Sudbury, Algoma, Manitoulin, Cochrane, and Timiskaming, and includes the land area north of the road system generally known as the Hudson Bay Lowlands.  


With that introduction complete, I'd like to now turn to Northwatch's oral submission on the Revised Issues List.


In preparing our oral submissions, we were cognizant of the comments made by the Board on Procedures Day, and of the oral submissions made thus far.  As such, our oral submissions follow the proposed index for intervenor submissions provided by the Board on Procedures Day.  


We will first address general issues, including the basic structure of the list, the Board's role and mandate and effects on certain nations, peoples and regions.  We'll then address specific issues of environment and sustainability.  


Northwatch will strive to not repeat arguments already made by intervenors, but, instead, note where we are supportive of those arguments.  Our oral submissions will focus on the issues that we believe are unique to Northwatch.

    Other issues, such as Procurement Process, are discussed in adequate detail by other intervenors and we will not get into too much detail in our submissions.


I will now turn to the first category of general issues.  The first issue that Northwatch would like to comment on is the basic structure of the list, and this is mentioned on the proposed index, issue A-1.  


Northwatch is supportive of the basic structure of the Revised Issues List.  However, we agree with GEC's general comments on the list, found at pages 2 and 3 of the GEC, Pembina and OSEA written submissions, specifically that the Issues List as drafted is but a slight rewording of the Directives and legislation, and that the questions as drafted will not assist the Board in understanding the main issues that are in contention.


Northwatch also agrees that the Issues List should be augmented by more focussed statements of issues.  We believe that without the inclusion of more focussed statements of issues, the list will not adequately reflect the many concerns raised by intervenors, thus rendering the review process meaningless.


The second general issue that Northwatch would like to provide summary comments on is that of the Board's role and jurisdiction.  


The various sources of the Board's role and jurisdiction with respect to reviewing and approving the IPSP have been outlined before.  They include, of course, Sections 25.30(4) and (5) of the Electricity Act, Supply Mix Directive and the IPSP Regulation.


We believe that it's generally accepted at this stage that these sources, particularly the statutory structure of how the Electricity Act leads the supply mix, which in turn leads to the IPSP Regulation, is generally accepted.


We also agree with the oral submissions provided yesterday by Lake Ontario Waterkeepers and AMPCO that the objectives outlined in Section 1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, specifically the objective of public interest, also apply to this review.


We specifically agree with AMPCO's submission that an overly restrictive interpretation of the Board's role and jurisdiction as proposed by the OPA is contrary to Section 1 of that enabling legislation.  Again, we don't want to repeat those submissions, but do offer our support of them.


We would now like to turn to another sub-issue of the Board's role and jurisdiction, and that is the meaning of certain terms that are presented in the source materials.  The specific terms we're going to address are "ensure", as found in Subsection 25.30(4) of the Electricity Act; "consider", as found in subsection 2(1), item 7 of the IPSP Regulation; and, of course, "economically prudent and cost-effective", as found in subsection 25.30(4) of the Electricity Act.


Northwatch is supportive of the argument that a broad interpretation of these words be adopted for the review process, which would therefore provide the Board with a wider scope and jurisdiction in its review powers than is being suggested by the OPA.


The Panel has already listened to many submissions on these terms.  Northwatch does not wish to waste the Board's time by repeating those submissions.  Rather, we'll list the arguments that we support, adding emphasis where we feel necessary.


With respect to the term "ensure", we agree with Pollution Probe that the term suggests the Legislature's intention to provide the Board with a particularly high level of deference in its review of the IPSP.


With respect to the term "consider", Northwatch would like to add its support of GEC's oral submissions yesterday, particularly that the requirement to consider requires a reasonable weighing and evaluation and that inherent

within that scope is the notion of adequate consideration; and, also supplied by GEC yesterday, that the case upon which the OPA relies on in its submission for an interpretation of the term "consider" - namely, the Bruce Township v. Ontario case - is clearly distinguished from the matter at hand and is inapplicable in this context.


Now, turning to the terms "economically prudent" and "cost-effective", in its oral submissions yesterday, the GEC also offered a thorough analysis on the meaning of the term "economic prudence".  Included in that discussion was the meaning of the term "cost-effective".


As with the discussion of the term "consider", Northwatch will not submit additional arguments on those meanings here, but, instead, only note that it supports GEC's submissions, particularly that economic prudence is more than lower net present value, requires a look at all significant costs and cost risks, and that "cost-effectiveness" must capture all significant economic costs and risks.


We are also supportive of the submissions made this morning by the Provincial Council of Women of Ontario on the meaning of "economic prudence", particularly the submission that, given the interconnectivity between the environment and the economy, a test for economic prudence must include some level of environmental review.


Now I'd like to deal with more specific issues on the proposed index.  I'd specifically like to turn to Issue A-5 on the index; that is, effects on nations, people, and regions, which is of primary concern to Northwatch.


Northwatch's main concern with respect to the proposed IPSP is that, if implemented as is, it will have a disproportionately negative impact on the environment in northern Ontario in comparison to other regions of the province.


Northwatch will identify some of these concerns of the IPSP.  With respect to renewables, Northwatch is supportive of the development of renewable energy sources, but is concerned that development in the IPSP occurs in a way that does not unduly burden northern Ontario. 


In each term, as presented in the IPSP, the proportion of renewables to be extracted from the northeast increases relative to the south.  The renewable energy supply sources identified from the north - for example, new hydro -- carry a greater environmental burden than the renewables identified from the south; for example, wind.


The hydro supply identified for the north includes projects which are subject of environmental review and are highly speculative and of great environmental concerns in the longer term.


For example, the majority of the stage 3 projects are in provincial parks, for which there is a no-hydro-development policy in place.  This could pose a significant barrier to the development of the IPSP.


As Northwatch's concerns over regional inequity relate specifically to environmental protection and sustainability, we address both Issue A-5 and A-17 on the proposed index together here.  


In light of these concerns, Northwatch requests that the following three questions be added to the Issues List. They are:  Number 2, have environmental protection and environmental sustainability been adequately considered in developing the plan?  That question also appears in our written submissions, as well.


Question number 2:  Has intergenerational equity, a key requirement of sustainability, been adequately considered in developing the plan?  This, I'd like to point out, is an issue, a question, that does not appear in our written submissions and is occurring right now for the first time.


Question number 3, for each proposed electricity project, has the OPA:  (a) described the environment that might be affected directly and/or indirectly; (b) described the likely environmental effects of the electricity project; © described what mitigation measures might be required; and (d) identified a reasonable range of alternatives, described those alternatives and compared them to the proposed project?  That, again, appears in our written submissions.


I will now address each of these questions individually.  Again, the first question that we're asking be added to the Issues List is:  Have environmental protection and environmental sustainability been adequately considered in developing the plan?


This issue is particularly important, as the Board's review process is the only one in which the OPA will be required to demonstrate that it considered environmental protection and sustainability in developing the plan as a whole.  Northwatch accepts that environmental assessments of certain electricity projects will occur in the future under the Environmental Assessment Act, and that environmental protection, by way of an examination into these impacts, will be considered for each of those projects.


Such assessments, however, will examine all the potential -- will examine the potential environmental impacts of the individual project, only.  Consideration of the cumulative impacts of all of the projects outlined in the IPSP on the environment will not be considered.


It is the cumulative impacts of projects that threaten environmental protection and sustainability in certain regions of the province, particularly northern Ontario.


The Board's jurisdiction for adding this question to the Issues List is the IPSP Regulation, subsection 2(1), item 7, which requires the OPA to ensure that safety, environmental protection and environmental sustainability are considered in developing the plan.


Northwatch's proposed question is similar to the OPA's issue number 7(viii) on their Revised Issues List, with the notable addition of the word "adequately".  


The GEC in its written and oral submissions also include the word "adequately" in the phrasing of its proposed sustainability question.


GEC's sustainability question is at Item 8.4, page 7 of its written submission, and says:

"Has the OPA's planning approach adequately weighed and evaluated environmental impacts and risks and considered sustainability appropriately and applied these terms in its plan development?"


Yesterday in its oral submissions, the GEC addressed the Board's jurisdiction and rationale for adding the word "adequately" to the sustainability question.  Northwatch agrees with those submissions, particularly that adequacy is required as part of the term "consider" in this context, because environmental protection and sustainability are part of the cost-effective and economic prudence test.


Before I turn to the second issue that Northwatch would like to address in detail, I would like to note here that the Board's jurisdiction to add several of the questions in Northwatch's written submissions to the Issues List is here; specifically, that is in the Board's jurisdiction to review whether sustainability and environmental protection were adequately considered in developing the IPSP.


The questions I refer to are questions 4, 8, and 9 in our written submissions.  Northwatch's concerns in relation to those questions are noted in our written submissions.  I'll not repeat them here, but wanted to note the Board's jurisdiction for adding them to the Issues List.


The second question that Northwatch requests be added to the Issues List also deals with consideration of sustainability in the IPSP.  That question again is:  Has intergenerational equity, a key requirement of sustainability, been adequately considered in developing the plan?


This issue was not addressed in Northwatch's initial written submissions, as I earlier said, but we would like to include it here as a response to the proposed index for intervenor submissions.


The Board's jurisdiction for adding this question to the Issues List is also the IPSP Regulation, subsection 2.1, item 7, again ensuring that sustainability be considered.


We would like to refer further here to the OPA discussion paper number 6 on sustainability, which is found at Exhibit C-10-1 of the OPA's submitted IPSP.


At page 5 of that discussion paper, the OPA outlines eight requirements of sustainability in chart form.  The chart is adapted from Professor Robert B. Gibson's work, Sustainability Assessment, Criteria and Processes.


Professor Gibson's third sustainability requirement, intergenerational equity, is defined to, and I quote:

"... seek to prevent disproportionate burdens on particular regions, groups or industries."


It is clear that regional equity and preventing disproportionate burdens on specific regions is therefore one of the fundamental requirements of sustainability.  Whether the OPA adequately considered this fundamental requirement of sustainability is less clear.


While the OPA used the above-mentioned definition of  intergenerational equity in its discussion paper, it proposed a different definition of the term when explaining how it considered sustainability while developing the IPSP.


In the OPA document entitled "Development of the IPSP" found at Exhibit B-3-1 of the IPSP, specifically at page 8 of that document, and when answering the question, "How has the OPA been guided in its consideration of sustainability?", the OPA produces an amended version of the sustainability requirements chart found in the discussion paper.


In the amended chart, intergenerational equity is given a very different definition than the one previously provided.  The amended definition states that the goal of intergenerational equity is to, and I quote:

"... ensure that sufficiency and effective choices for all are pursued in ways that reduce dangerous gaps in sufficiency and opportunity and health security, social recognition, political influence, et cetera, between the rich and the poor."


Northwatch accepts that this revised definition provides an aspect of intergenerational equity.  However, it submits that to adopt this one aspect as representative of the concept of intergenerational equity as a whole severely limits the concept and sustainability in the plan in two very significant ways.


First, it suggests that the only group worthy of equity consideration is distinguished by economic status; that is, the rich versus the poor.  Regions, industry, and other groups are completely eliminated from equity consideration.


Second, it suggests that equity in the sharing of the opportunities of the IPSP is the only factor for consideration, and it ignores completely equity in sharing the burdens of the IPSP.


As the Board noted in its presentation last week on Procedures Day, the effects on certain nations, peoples and regions is a concern raised by many intervenors.  The large response to this issue indicates a flaw in the IPSP, and a major concern.


Northwatch submits that this concern is therefore worthy of its own question on the Issues List.


I'd like now to turn to the third question that Northwatch submits be added to the Issues List, under the heading of "Environment as a Specific Issue" on the proposed index, issue A-17.


That question again is:

"For each proposed electricity project, has the OPA:  (a) described the environment that might be affected; (b) described the likely environmental effects of the electricity project; © described what mitigation measures might be required; and, (d) identified a reasonable range of alternatives, described those alternatives and compared them to the proposed project?"


The Board's jurisdiction for including this question is found in the IPSP Regulation at subsection 2(1), item 8, which states that:

"In developing the IPSP, the OPA must ensure that for each electricity project recommended in the plan that meets the criteria set out in subsection 2 the plan contain a sound rationale, including an analysis of the impact on the environment of the electricity project and an analysis of the impact on the environment of a reasonable range of alternatives to the electricity project."


In its oral submission on Monday, the OPA specifically referred to this requested addition to the Issues List as being far beyond what is required by the Legislation and the Regulations.  The OPA went on to further suggest, and the OPA may wish to correct me if I am wrong in understanding this, that these questions are fair to ask now for electricity projects, as defined in subsection 2(2) of the IPSP Regulation; that is, projects that will require environmental assessments under part 2 of the Environmental Assessment Act within five years of plan approval.


To address OPA's comments, Northwatch would like to clarify that by electricity project in our proposed question, we mean electricity projects that meet the criteria set out in subsection 2 of the IPSP Regulation.


We hope that this addresses the OPA's concerns with this issue.


We acknowledge that the OPA has included reference to this part of the IPSP Regulation in its Revised Issues List at issue 1, question 7(viii).


First, I would like to point out that in the Revised Issues List there is reference there to subsection 8(2) of the Regulation, and the OPA might want to correct me if I am wrong, but I believe that reference might be an inaccurate and possibly should be reference to the IPSP Regulation, subsection 2.1, item 8, and subsection 2.2.  That might be something for further consideration, because that would be important to amend in a finalized Issues List.


The wording of the OPA's proposed question is but a slight rejigging of these sections of the Regulation to alter the statement into a question.  Northwatch's proposed question breaks down the requirements of the IPSP Regulation into distinct questions, which we submit are appropriate to provide a better understanding of the issue.  


The questions posed by Northwatch here are not beyond the scope of the IPSP Regulation.  We ask:  How can an analysis of the impact on the environment and of the analysis of a reasonable range of alternatives be ensured unless the IPSP does not first describe the environment that might be affected, the environmental effects of the electricity project, describe what mitigation measures might be required and identify the range of alternatives?


The breakdown of this issue into the questions Northwatch poses is important, because the result of the environmental review of each electricity project are necessary for an appropriate consideration of environmental protection and sustainability in the plan as a whole, particularly a consideration of the cumulative impacts of all of the electricity projects combined.


It is imperative to note that the results of such assessments cannot be relied upon entirely in considering environmental protection in the IPSP, as many projects fall outside of the five-year time line.


Some level of consideration of environmental impacts of the future projects must be included when considering environmental protection and sustainability, particularly when looking at intergenerational equity.  


That concludes Northwatch' review of issues that are of particular concern to its members.


There were other issues that were included in our written submissions that we talk about; specifically, conservation and demand management, transmission, and Procurement Processes.  These issues are dealt with in extreme detail by other intervenors, and while they are of concern to Northwatch, our primary concern, again, is regional equity.  


We would like to offer our support, specifically, of the GEC's comments on conservation and demand management, and we support the inclusion into the Issues List of their proposed questions on that matter, which I believe are questions 2.1 through to and including 2.7, found at the GEC's written submissions.


And, finally, with respect to Northwatch's proposed question in its written submission regarding innovative technology, we believe that this is adequately covered by the Revised Issues List, item 7(ii), and with that we conclude Northwatch's oral submission.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Do you have questions, Mr. Crocker?


MR. CROCKER:  I don't, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Agnolin.


MS. AGNOLIN:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  We will now take our afternoon break and resume at 3:30 p.m. 


--- Recess taken at 3:02 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:31 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


And our final presenters for the day is NOMA, City of Thunder Bay, Township of Atikokan. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CYR:

MR. CYR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair and Panel members, we represent a coalition of three intervenors in this submission:  Northern Ontario Municipal Association, represented here today by Anne Krassilowsky, president of the Association itself, also Mayor of Dryden; the Town of Atikokan, represented by Mayor Dennis Brown; and the City of Thunder Bay, for which I am counsel. 


Mr. Rod Bosch, to my immediate right, is attending as a volunteer member of the NOMA Energy Task Force resource group.  He brings with him many years of experience in operating a hydro system as operations supervisor for northern Ontario for many years priority his retirement.


And last but not least, Mr. Mike McLeod, a regulatory consultant to NOMA.


The copy of the presentation you're about to see was electronically filed by Mr. McLeod last evening.


MS. NOWINA:  We will mark this as an exhibit.  We've been doing that.


MR. CYR:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. CYR:  Madam Chair, the number was ...


MS. NOWINA:  Exhibit 11.


MR. CYR:  Eleven, thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. 11:  COPY OF THE PRESENTATION OF NOMA.

MR. CYR:  We're here specifically to urge the Board to decide that the only adequate process for review of the IPSP is to consider northwestern Ontario region within the Ontario power supply grid as a separate entity for purposes of analysis.


In our view, the criteria by which we will propose that it is a region to be distinguished from elsewhere in the province are, firstly, the degree of interdependence of its transmission circuits and -- of a region's inter -- transmission circuits; and, secondly, the sources of inertia within a given region. 


Those two criteria will, I think, in the course of this submission, distinguish northwestern Ontario as a distinct region that needs to be considered for its distinctiveness in addressing the IPSP.


Turning for a moment to the concept of inertia, I invite people to think in terms of my simplistic view of a cat playing with a ball of yarn.  We can all -- have seen or imagine having seen a cat tapping a ball of twine and it skittering across the carpet, replace the ball of twine with a bowling ball, and the cat's paw does little to move it.


The concept of inertia is something like the concept of gravity.  You tend to take it so much for granted that you don't plan for it, but you assume that it's there.  That will have some bearing in the comments during this presentation.


We want to emphasize for the Board a number of factors, first of all, that prevail in northwestern Ontario that do not affect other regions.  In particular, southern Ontario is a region in itself.  


Secondly, we want to consider several components of the Minister's Directive as they operate or would affect northwestern Ontario, and particularly the Minister's directions on generation; and, thirdly, focus on three aspects of the northwestern Ontario grid that the IPSP, as currently drafted, either ignores, but ought not to, or does not consider adequately.


Those aspects are, first, transmission infrastructure; secondly, dynamic behaviour as affected by inherent inertia, and inadequacies inherent in transmission supply; and, thirdly, a lack of energy itself.  That latter point will be covered by Mr. Bosch more particularly as we go on.


Our purpose then is to ask the Board to understand and consider the unique nature of the electrical system in northwestern Ontario and appreciate that the IPSP fails to comply with the Minister's Directive on several material points.  


The Electricity Act, section 1(a), as everyone is no doubt aware, has as its purpose to ensure the adequacy, safety, and sustainability and reliability of the electrical supply through responsible planning and management of electricity resources, supply and demand. 


That obviously underpins the goals set out in the Section 5 of the Minister's Directive for a plan that ensures adequate generating capacity, ensures electrical system reliability, and calls for replacement generation.


The first alternative that we'll seek in this presentation is to have the issue as it pertains -- the Integrated Power Supply Plan sent back to the OPA for reconsideration on the point of how the system efficiency and integration of new supply in Section 6 of the Minister's Directive can be achieved by further upgrades to the transmission system in northwestern Ontario; then how "adequate generating capacity", quoting from the Directive, and "system reliability", again quoting from the Directive, are to be maintained through replacement generation in northwestern Ontario upon the shutting of two thermal generating plants; and, thirdly, how adequate generating capacity and system reliability are to be maintained through replacement generation, again quoting from the Directive, in northwestern Ontario upon shutting down of those plants; and, finally, how levels of energy sufficiency -- energy sufficient to meet the base load capacity in northwestern Ontario can be maintained upon the shutting of the plants.


A second alternative to the first of sending it back would be to state -- to add an issue stated as following:  In the alternative, to have the Board consider, does the Integrated Power Supply Plan plan for replacement generation, adequate generating capacity, strengthening of the transmission system, system efficiency, and system reliability in the substantively different circumstances of northwestern Ontario.


In deciding on either alternative, the Board will need to understand more about northwestern Ontario.  This is obviously a map of the province.  It's seldom seen, because on the standard road map, of course, northwestern Ontario and parts of northeastern Ontario are on the other side of the map on a smaller scale so that it fits on to the same page.


What we need to have everybody understand is that the green mass at the top, roughly the size of France, extends from Lake Superior, where Thunder Bay is located, up to Hudson's Bay, and compare the fact that the footprint of southern Ontario will fit something like five times into the land mass footprint of northwestern Ontario.


Consider, too, that if you were to drive from the American border at Windsor to the Quebec border along the Highway 401, you would quite likely come within 100 kilometres of, we're guessing, something like nine-and-a- half million people.  


Ninety-four percent of the population of the province live in southern Ontario, and that drive would take you, we guess, within 100 kilometres of 9.5 million of them.  It's a drive of 788 kilometres.  


Take the same length of drive from the Manitoba border to the Town of Wawa, just outside of the area of northwestern Ontario.  Roughly the same distance travelled, but you will come within 100 kilometres of fewer than a quarter million people.  We are less than 5 percent of the population base of the province in an area five times the size of Southern Ontario.


Some basic other facts.  Generating capacity in northwestern Ontario is relatively small, just under 1,200 megawatts of installed generating capacity, less than 5 percent of the estimated 27,000 megawatts of installed capacity in the entire province.  


The sources of generation, of course, are important.  Of that generating capacity, almost 1,200 megawatts, 680 megawatts are installed hydroelectric generating capacity, and 517 megawatts of installed thermal generating capacity comprised of the two stations that are slated for shutting down.


It's important to see that base load capacity in northwestern Ontario is comprised of hydroelectric generation; very economical, but not very reliable.  We can point to statistics where the actual megawatt output can be as low as 30 percent of the installed capacity for hydroelectric generation; not something that you can always rely on, but wonderful if you can get it.


It's essential to understand that the rest of the base load, the reliable part, comes from the thermal generation.  517 megawatts is always there at present, in terms of the installed capacity that can be relied upon to meet base load capacity.


Southern Ontario, of course, relies on nuclear generation as its base load capacity supply.  There is no such thing as nuclear generation in northwestern Ontario, nor do we feel much effect of it existing in southern Ontario.


This is a transmission map.  The thing we want to point out is the mass of transmission facility there is in southern Ontario and the thinness of the transmission in northwestern Ontario.  


That will go back to the issue of inertia.  It is the mass in southern Ontario that is the bowling ball, so to speak, that the cat's paw will not harm.  In northwestern Ontario, it's very much the ball of yarn.  If you take away the inertia from the northwestern Ontario grid, then you do leave us with a ball of yarn.


In northwestern Ontario, only 5 percent of our transmission lines are looped.  That means that if there is an interruption in supply at a place of the line, supply can come from the other direction in the loop, in a looped line.


If they are radial transmission lines, radial circuits, which is the 95 percent of our transmission lines, you do not have that alternate level of supply.  You do not have that security of supply.  That is immaterial, relatively, in southern Ontario, where a radial line might go 4 kilometres. 


It is of crucial importance, however, in northwestern Ontario, where the radial line may run for 5- or 600 kilometres.


The other thing to point out, Madam Chair, is that the transmission map that I just showed you really only takes in 40 percent, if that, of the land mass of northwestern Ontario.  I was troubled to hear a comment from the applicant, and I trust I misunderstood it, that the residents in this upper portion of northwestern Ontario were not part of the Integrated Power Supply Plan, and the question that immediately came to my mind is:  Why not?


Another thing to understand about northwestern Ontario compared to southern Ontario is the ratio of industrial to residential demand.  In southern Ontario we understand, because of the huge population, that 70 to 80 percent of the demand is residential.  It was verified earlier in one of the presentations, saying that a drop in the transmission supply would wipe out 300 megawatts in downtown Toronto. 


It's helpful for the Board to appreciate that 300 megawatts would be two paper mills in northwestern Ontario, of which we have five.


Northwestern Ontario, by comparison, has a huge industrial base compared to its population base.  Seventy percent of our customer demand is industrial.  That gives advantages and disadvantages.  The scale of the industrial users, it's important to appreciate, is typically much larger than the average scale of an industrial user in southern Ontario.  


One paper mill consumes between 100 and 210 megawatts of power.  The largest of these, consuming 210, is typically among one of the highest energy users in the province, usually in the top five or seven.


There are five paper mills operating in northwestern Ontario today.  That's in the current perfect storm of mill closures.  They are still operating.  The market is still there.  The forest is still there.  And those five alone are equivalent to at least ten to 15 assembly plants.  


And I was told by the people who know far more about this than I that it's probably closer to 30, but I didn't have an exact number and I didn't want to venture too much past 15, but it may very well be equivalent of 30 automotive assembly plants.


We have had historical problems in the supply of electricity in northwestern Ontario.  I'm showing you the picture of a very unsightly building being torn down.  It's the ERCO chemical plant.  The important thing to understand about the ERCO chemical plant is that it was built in northwestern Ontario, in the City of Thunder Bay, specifically to supply its major client base, the paper mills, with chemical processes. 


Here you see it being torn down.  It was uneconomic to continue it.  We don't know the exact reasons for the decision to leave the area, but the point is that we do know that it had a classic problem of supply of electricity.  That processing plant required high amperage, but the high amperage had to be on a radial line that served two paper mills, which conversely required high voltage.


We don't know exactly what their decision was, but they moved their -- consolidated their operations in a move to Calgary, and, hence, shipped their product 2,000 kilometres to the paper mill clients in Thunder Bay.  We can't help but think that part of their decision-making process was the inadequacy of reliable, sustainable supply of the energy they needed.


We want to point out, too, that one of the other features that must not be missed is that the boreal forest is alive and well, and that both thermal plants that are under consideration happen to be in one of the largest carbon sinks in the entire planet.


We want you to understand, as well, that mining operations are alive and well.  You can see several gold mining operations here and a palladium mine in the northern part.


You need to understand, as well, that 44.6 percent of the active mining claims in Ontario are in northwestern Ontario, and if you accumulate all of the green bars in this chart, you will see that some 150,000 claims are active claims.  Those are ones that mining developers or prospectors are putting their own money in to see if there is valuable resource to be extracted.  And you'll see that 2007 increases over 2006.


We'd like to think that there is room for new industrial users related to the industries that are already existing in northwestern Ontario.  One such plant would be an electrical smelting plant that would be pollution-free, virtually.  It's impossible to put it on to our grid, because of inadequate supply.  As a result -- or is trucked a thousand kilometres for processing.


It's important to think -- and the literature in the IPSP supports this, and if you are watching this online and hooked to the Internet, if you press the white reference, it will take you, provided you have the Adobe 2.8 and higher, to the page in the materials to where the references are.


It's referred to as an "island".  Historically, the northwestern Ontario grid started as a pigtail supply from the Manitoba grid.  But it is an island in the sense that it does not have the connections, for instance, to the nuclear generation that is stated to be, obviously, the base load supply for southern Ontario.  It doesn't have many external sources of power.  It depends on internal generation within the island.


I'd like to consider where we are, have the Board consider where we are, with the Minister's Directives.  Conservation targets for northwestern Ontario -- sorry, for the province as a whole, indicate the Minister's targeting 1,300 megawatts cut from peak demand for the entire province by 2010, and 3,600 megawatts by 2025. 


It's important for the Board to appreciate that this problem of peak demands has already been dealt with and has some 15 years ago been dealt with in northwestern Ontario because of the unique industrial/residential ratio that we have.  


Table 3, then, from the IPSP gives a projection for conservation that is almost axiomatically unattainable.


If we consider mills and other large industries in northwestern Ontario, out of their own economic necessity, cooperated with the former Ontario Hydro and with local utilities to suppress peak demand in northwestern Ontario grid, and, in effect, 15 years ago and continue now, have eliminated -- and continue to do now, have eliminated some 200 megawatts in peak demand that used to exist. 


They do it by production shifting, so that 20 years ago, where there would have been a peak at 11:30 and 6:30 in any daily cycle, it will be found that in fact what happens at those times is that industry moves certain components of its industrial production, particularly high-voltage requirement, to off hours, so that the demand then is only residential, and, therefore, the peak has been levelled. 


With the huge proportion of industrial use, that, of course, can be done in northwestern Ontario and has been accomplished, but it is a component of the "island" concept.


Another feature of the "island" concept, of course, is that when we save power, we can't ship it anywhere.  There is at Marathon, Ontario a transmission structure that will not permit surplus power in northwestern Ontario to be shipped to southern Ontario, where we would gladly allow you to have it.


Turning to the Minister's direction on residential conservation, we assume that in southern Ontario, this massive population of 94 percent of the province's people will be the base for most of the conservation to be achieved.  Certainly the 30 percent of the 250,000 people in northwestern Ontario will do their part, but it will be a small contribution, at best, since we are only 5 percent of the province's population.


Turning to renewable energy, biomass, again, out of economic necessity of the large industries, particularly the paper mills, has already been utilized.  For example, one of the largest mills in northwestern Ontario produces as much as 50 megawatts of its own 210 megawatt electrical energy need.  It will be difficult then for the OPA to propose anything not already being implemented, out of economic necessity, but we're certainly open to the possibility. 


But it's important to realize that for the last 15 years, every mill manager has had as his number one priority to cut costs, and, of course, in the uncompetitive pricing of Ontario power, the electrical costs are certainly one of the ones that have been focussed on.


Wind power generation.  There are several suggested wind power generation sites in northwestern Ontario.  There is a proposal on the east shores of Lake Nipigon, which site is in the easterly portion of northwestern Ontario, and several other sites.  


Wind power generation needs to be considered certainly as useful additions to energy, but obviously cannot be considered as generation for load capacity, nor can it be considered to contribute much in the way of inertia. Industrial users need to have a far more secure and reliable supply of base load generation.


I want to focus for a minute on the issues related to dynamic behaviour and stability in a grid.  In the wind power portion of the IPSP, there is a reference -- and it's there in the citation at the bottom of the page.  There is reference to some of the dynamic behaviour problems that arise out of relying on wind generation.  


I'll go through the highlighted portions that, due to the fact that wind generators replace conventional generators, in this case the thermal generators that we're talking about, possible problems and considered zones may arise relating to -- and this is quoting right from the section of the consultants' report related to wind power. 


There are things like reduced short-circuit level, risk of local voltage collapse, reduced system inertia that could impact stability in what they refer to as "our Island operation" in northwestern Ontario, and small signal stability.


Small signal stability is the equipment in a sophisticated plant that is extremely sensitive to slightest variations in voltage.  Understand that collaterally, with the pressure to decrease costs in electricity, mill managers and industries, such as streetcar manufacturers, Bombardier, introduce extremely sensitive robotics and computers to manage their electrical supply and the functions of their machinery.


The more demand they put on suppressing energy use, the more sophisticated this equipment becomes, but, collaterally, the more sensitive it becomes to minor voltage variation.  Minor voltage variation that would not have been material in effect 40 years ago would be of effect now.  Small signal stability.


Continuing further with the consultants report on instability, fault contribution from one side may decay so that the line distance protections cannot detect faults.  Behaviour of wind turbines during grid faults can have significant impact with risk of local voltage collapse, prolonged voltage dips due to delayed voltage recovery in best case.


So it's supporting, in the sense that when it's available it will supply energy to the system, but it can't for an instant be regarded as anything contributing to base load security in a grid.


The same could be said of solar generation, a welcome and additional supply of energy, but certainly not to be relied on as base capacity.


Hydroelectric generation, as noted earlier, has been ideal and has been the mainstay of generation in northwestern Ontario.  Many sites have been identified in the IPSP, but it is important to understand that the sites that have been identified, the largest would produce 20 to 25 megawatts of electricity that could be, if it is there, part of base load, but it is still subject to drought.


The exception is the 132 megawatts at Jackfish, but understand that that is not a reliable contributor to base load, because it exhausts in four hours.  Its reservoir is very small.  Generating capacity is considerably larger than the other sites, but its sustainability is negligible.


Hydroelectric generation is obviously a superb source of generation for small-scale local use.  It does contribute very economically to northwestern Ontario's generating capabilities.  No one can argue that it will be a constant, reliable, sustainable supply year after year, because you have that caution already cited that it can go as low as 30 percent.


Turning to demand management in the Minister's Directive, again, we're uniquely different in northwestern Ontario.  For example, we have succeeded, as I've said, in levelling peak demands, but it's more important to realize that demand management in northwestern Ontario is what one of the earlier - the City of Toronto, I believe - speakers has already identified as last century's purpose in terms of demand management; that is, in industrial development.  That was in the 1800s and early 1900s province-wide in the development of steel mills, paper mills, et cetera.


It still is, in northwestern Ontario, the key element in demand management.  We are not looking at, in northwestern Ontario, planning for existing users.  It must go beyond existing users for future -- nor can it plan for demographic projections, increases or decreases, which will tend to be minor in number, in our population.


Rather, demand management for northwestern Ontario has to be to encourage development.  I think it's fair to say, Madam Chair, that no one built the CPR or the CNR because there were thousands upon thousands of people wanting to get out west.  Conversely, it was built so that people would be encouraged to go out west.


What we need in northwestern Ontario is an electrical grid that encourages development.


One of the crucial issues in northwestern Ontario is, as I've indicated, radial circuitry.  Ninety-five percent of our circuitry is radial, and it needs to be substantially upgraded.  Looping of circuits is not a complex matter.  It will be expensive because of the distances, but it will provide more stable, secure supply to industrial and residential users.


As presently drafted, the IPSP makes no provision for looping of any of the remote transmission lines.  


This is a transmission map for northwestern Ontario.  If, for instance -- just to give you a perspective, this lists electrical system stations.  It does not list towns.


The Musselwhite gold mine, a massive mine, is up here is up here.  That line shouldn't be dotted; it should be solid.  It is a supply from Pickle Lake, which should be located here, coming off the Ear Falls link to the Ear Falls Hydro dam, which branches off to the west to Red Lake and to the east to Pickle Lake.


If there were installed a loop, it would solve many problems.  Anne Krassilowsky, on behalf of NOMA, will give you some anecdotal summary of some of the problems that exist on this radial circuit coming up from Dryden.  


What happens when there is a breach here is that it puts everything out here out of commission, including Musselwhite Mine.


If there was a loop, a breach here would permit alternate supply through the other branch of the loop.  That would assist existing mines, municipal ties, and, for instance, a proposed value-added wood products manufacturing plant that should be -- is -- people are hoping to develop in the area.


Similarly, in the eastern portion of northwestern Ontario, you have the same risk in a very long radial line up to Longlac, so that a breach between Beardmore and Jellicoe will cut out Jellicoe and Longlac.  If the circuit was looped down to Terrace Bay - and that would simply be taking it down an existing logging road - there would be stability of supply for the residential and industrial users on that entire loop.


Once again, that would, for both such loops -- well, let me just back up for a minute.


Because the loops are not there, understand, for instance, that something as simple as downtime maintenance must be conducted on statutory holidays, ready or not.  In the event of a fault in the line, there is no alternate source of supply, as I've explained.  The inevitable result is unanticipated downtime for industrial users and a lot of discomfort for residential users.  And you'll hear about that in a moment.


If the loops were installed, you would have many benefits following.  For example, First Nation communities up in that top portion of northwestern Ontario that I referred to - and, to my surprise, is not apparently regarded as part of the Integrated Power Supply Plan for the province - would have an opportunity to take their communities off of expensive and environmentally undesirable diesel plants. 


The OPA will have the statistics on the number of diesel plants that are in operation as we speak in the many, many reserve communities in this area of northwestern Ontario.


It will increase the capacity along those loops to develop local industry, to assist in the development of renewable generation, such as hydroelectric uses.  Combined transmission and small-megawatt hydroelectric generations can be happy marriages.


Let's get back to the problem -- or the issue, rather, of inertia.  We've talked about the transmission map that you saw earlier and the massive inertia that's already in the southern Ontario grid, and the thin inertia that exists in northwestern Ontario.


It's the transformers, generators, large generators, especially the nuclear generators in southern Ontario, and other equipment all attached to that massive grid that create the inertia. 


In northwestern Ontario, by contrast, it has few looped transmission lines, small hydroelectric generation.  Even if wind turbine is introduced, it is small in its inertia.  They add little inertia.  Most of the inertia is in the massive turbines and connected equipment in the three turbines in the two generating plants that are coal-burning.


It's helpful to appreciate that energy production plus inertia are the two key factors in generation.  When a generator produces electrical energy, it is producing the energy itself in megawatts, but it is also contributing to the inertia of the grid, the stability of the grid, the bowling ball effect of the grid.


So that the cat's paw of an electrical storm or a permanent fault - that is, an equipment failure that someone has to find in 500 kilometres and isolate and repair, and may take six, eight, or 36 hours to do - doesn't happen.


It is of fundamental importance to appreciate that in our thermal generating plants, although it is producing 517 megawatts of energy, it is also providing as much as 40 percent of the inertia in the northwestern Ontario grid.


Turning to the Minister's Directive, in Section 5 he speaks not of replacement energy, but of replacement generation.  We need, therefore, a plan, if it is to be consistent with the Minister's Directive, that replaces generation with generation, so that it has both components:  It has the megawatt production, but it also has the inertial contribution to the grid. 


It can't simply be that you replace thermal generation with megawatt supply.  Yes, you may purport to have the energy back in the system, but you've taken out of the grid the stability -- the inertia that creates the stability in the grid.


It is all that turning equipment hooked up to a grid that prevents the cat's paw of a fault disrupting the grid.  You need the bowling ball.  You can't exist -- certainly in industrial environments, you can't exist with a supply that's a ball of twine.


We're taking you back, then, to the comments that were made in terms of wind generation, and the IPSP -- the Ontario Power Authority needs to explain how the same problems don't arise -- won't arise if the thermal generating stations are shut down.  Will it not also create the same possibilities that were listed earlier?


Impact on line protection, risk of local voltage collapse, reduced system inertia, impacts on stability, small-signal stability can be a problem.


Now, there is also the lack of reliability in the transmission supply plan that is in the current IPSP.  There's a lack of system reliability when the transmission supply is not stable.  


The IPSP proposes a replacement of base load generation for the thermal generating stations with a transmission supply that is purporting to meet base load requirements.


Well, there are some problems with that.  Transmission lines are vulnerable.  We have a 230-kilovolt line running from Manitoba through to Marathon, some almost 800 kilometres.  Such transmission lines are vulnerable to transient and permanent faults.  


Transient faults are ones that correct themselves.  Permanent faults are ones where something's gone wrong and you have to find it, locate it, repair it.


Standard practice in electrical storms is to have the administration of the system suppress the transmission in that area of the line to zero.  


Now, what happens in northwestern Ontario is that the transmission flow is typically west to east, from Manitoba toward Marathon, which happens also to be the pattern of the storm.  So, in other words, you would have a transmission zeroing, following the tracking of the storm through significant distances of the transmission line.


As a result, there's no reason to think that transmission feed can be considered as base load, even forgetting for a moment the issue of inertia.  And there is instability over length.  Voltage drops happen necessarily over long transmission.  Capacitors have to be used, and there you're tinkering with a system that invites instability and things to go wrong.


We have to regard northwestern Ontario as that island.  We will never be using southern Ontario energy.  You need all you can produce, and you can't get it past Marathon, even if you wanted to.


Our transmission would come, typically, then, as I said, with the flow of energy in that 230-kilovolt line, from Manitoba, but there are some interesting features of that, too, because it is a 300 MW load limit.  And understand, too, that Manitoba's supply of energy is as susceptible to drought as northwestern Ontario's.  


Consider, too, that most of Manitoba's hydroelectric generation is pre-sold on long-term contracts to the U.S.  When Manitoba itself falls short on its individual needs, it goes to its alternate supply in North Dakota, and that's the supply that would likely come in a drought situation through the transmission lines west to east through northwestern Ontario, but North Dakota is coal-burning generation.  


So, we'd be replacing coal-burning generation in northwestern Ontario for coal-burning generation in North Dakota.  It's like your neighbour telling you that the swimming pool is not polluted because the kids are peeing in the other end of the pool.


Now, there's a lack of system reliability, but there's a further problem in sufficiency of supply, and I'll turn that over to Mr. Rod Bosch. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BOSCH: 


MR. BOSCH:  Thank you, John.


Good afternoon, Madam Chair and Board Members.  I want to take this opportunity to graphically show you what the northwestern system looks like today and what the plan will leave us with in 2014 after the shutdown of Thunder Bay and Atikokan GS.


Currently GS, the base load for northwestern Ontario is 990 MW.  This figure is taken from statistics produced by OPA.  The supply of the 990 MW is taken by 517 MW capacity provided by our thermal generation and an additional capacity of 680 MW of hydraulic generation.


Now, those two, combined with their 990 MW alone, will leave us with an excess of some 207 MW, which traditionally is transferred in perfect seasons eastward on the east-west tie lines to be used by southern Ontario for its needs.


Now I'll take you to 2014 and the proposal that is being put forward in the plan.  2014, we will still have our existing 990 MW of load, and all we'll be left with is 680 MW of hydroelectric generation.


The maximum transfer that we can bring in in good storm or good day weather is 300 MW and on the east-west tie lines, keeping in mind today, traditionally, very seldom, if ever, do they bring megawatts east-west on tie lines.  Traditionally it goes eastward, but in this case here, in 2014, the plan calls for us to have large transfers of megawatts on the east-west tie lines coming into northwestern Ontario to supplant the lack of coal.  That will potentially leave us with 10 MW short.


The next problem with the thing is it doesn't even allow for any growth in the future.  Our little graph here is attempting to show you that all that happens is it could get worse.  If all of our plans in northwest Ontario by the power users and whatnot come to fruition, there will be growth as opposed to the plan's call for nothing to happen.


I'd now like to draw your attention to a situation that could occur after 2014.  We just went through this for the last three years.  Worst-case scenario, and this is by OPA numbers as well, we will only have 226 MW of installed capacity to be able to run due to a drought situation.  


The coal-fired generation is gone.  We still have 990 MW of base load generation that needs to be met.  The plan is to import 300 MW on the east-west tie lines.  That still leaves us 464 MW short.


Your next situation is, okay, we will make an emergency purchase of 300 MW with Manitoba, because we currently do not have any firm purchase plans with Manitoba for that purchase.  And the plan also told us explicitly to reject any consideration of imports with respect to the plan.  We should be able to look after ourselves internally, I guess.  And that goes for the province.


The 300 MW purchase combined with the 300 MW maximum transfer on the east-west tie lines will still leave us the 164 MW short, and that will be a great deficiency in our base load supply.


Under the IPSP, the worst-case scenario leaves us with a 464 MW base load supply shortfall and does not even allow for any potential load growth.  The plan asks us to ignore external purchases.  


So this graph here indicates what would be an absolute worst case, allowing for some load growth, which we in the northwest are planning to achieve in the re-establishment of a number of forestry industry mills, new value-added forestry operations, as well as numerous identified mining explorations.  


There are no large hydroelectric projects planned capable of supplying base load generation, and the renewables cannot be relied on to supply base load either, due to their lack of reliable supply source of either wind or water.


Therefore, the plan is flawed in its concept for supply to the northwest, and to us that is a very real scenario that could happen, and the plan is calling for the methods to use, to offset our concerns, is to install capacitors, to put wind generation in, put small hydroelectric projects in that are in areas where it's totally inaccessible and would be absolutely no contribution to what we have today.


We just wanted to graphically show you what we foresee could be a real serious problem, and the plan does not seem to accommodate it.  They are trying to replace megawatts for megawatts without due concern for the fact that their replacements of megawatts are not of the type that we need to allow us to continue to operate in northwestern Ontario.


Thank you. 


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CYR:

MR. CYR:  Thank you, Rod.


Moving then to our conclusion, Madam Chair, the Integrated Power Supply Plan as it is currently drafted fails to address northwestern Ontario's need for a sustainable system of electrical supply required in the purposes of the Act itself, as we've looked at earlier.  


And the statutory regime surely has to be relevant to this review.  It cannot be thought that the Board has any authority to approve something that is inconsistent with either the purposes of the Act or the Directives of the Minister.


As currently drafted, it does not meet the goals that the Minister's Directive provides for replacement generation, and, in our view, generation means not only supply of megawatts, but also the contributing inertial effect of the large turbines and connected equipment in a generation plant.


It does not supply the Minister's -- meet the Minister's Directive for adequate generating capacity.  Windmills and solar simply aren't competitive, although in small-scale applications they would be desirable.


The IPSP does address a transmission -- a useful transmission improvement within the City of Thunder Bay, but does not consider, for instance, either of the two loops that we looked at.  


It's not our position that the IPSP must say that those will be on the books.  It is our position that they must address and satisfy the Board that they have considered those possibilities, and the Board must evaluate whether or not their decision or recommendation to put them into the plan is valid.


The IPSP, as currently drafted, does not provide for system efficiency or system reliability when you take that much inertia out of the system.  The intervenors, therefore, urge the Board to review the IPSP as it pertains to northwestern Ontario, with a view to directing the OPA, pursuant to Section 25.30(5), to further consideration -- to further consider the plan, rather, as it pertains to northwestern Ontario.


In the alternative, we propose the addition of an issue:  Does the IPSP plan for replacement generation - these are all quotes from the Minister's Directive - adequate generating capacity, strengthening of the transmission system, system efficiency, power quality and system reliability - "power quality" isn't a term of the Minister, but "system reliability" is - in the substantively different circumstances of northwestern Ontario?


I'll ask Mr. Dennis Brown, representing the Township of Atikokan - Mr. Brown is the Mayor of Atikokan - representing one of the three intervenors in this joint presentation, to explain a bit about some of the industrial possibilities that are in suspension because of the system that we do have. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BROWN:

MR. BROWN:  Thanks, John. Madam Chair, members of the Panel, I'm pleased to be here today as part of the northwestern Ontario team, and to be able to represent my home community of Atikokan.  I'm also pleased to add my support and that of Atikokan council and the entire community to the position taken by NOMA and the City of Thunder Bay, as articulated by Mr. Cyr and Mr. Bosch in their presentation today.


As I am sure you are aware, Atikokan is home to one of the remaining coal-generating stations.  And as Mr. Cyr indicated, we in Atikokan and throughout northwestern Ontario feel there are a lot of opportunities in the -- for growth to take place, and I'd like to talk about just the opportunities related to mining.


Today there is an incredible amount of mining exploration going on in Atikokan and throughout northwestern Ontario.  The 2006 and 2007 exploration season was one of the busiest ever.  And Gary Clark, executive director of the Ontario Prospectors Association, says that Atikokan is an area with great mineral potential that has been relatively under-explored.


Right now, there are about 230 companies and individuals in northwestern Ontario out there doing detailed exploration, and some of these sites will become mines.  For example, Bencam Gold has acquired a high-grade Atikokan area property, and diamond drilling is scheduled to take place this spring.  And I understand that they are planning on starting the 1st of February.


In addition, there are other companies, like Brett Resources, that have been spending millions of dollars in exploring the Atikokan area in drilling for gold and other minerals.


Further, the Northern Ontario Heritage Fund Corporation provided $1 million of provincial money over the last few months to the Town of Atikokan to advance the Atikokan Mineral Development Initiative, a multi-year geoscience study that will expand the geoscientific database of the region.  This initiative is now entering the second of three stages.


Technical needs include regional mapping, geochemical sampling and airborne geophysical surveys.  Once completed, data will be released to mineral explorationists searching for viable mineral deposits.


The concern we have is that the IPSP seems to do little, if anything, to build electricity infrastructure, to handle any new mining developments along with our existing industry.  All of this exploration, sampling and mapping in northwestern Ontario will be a waste of time if the northwest does not have enough electricity to attract new industry.


In 2004, Energy Minister Dwight Duncan commented that, "As the province phases out coal, we are going to build up Atikokan", yet in the OPA plan, there is no mention of any such plan.  It simply speaks of shutting down the plant without consideration for the effects noted by Mr. Cyr.


In a speech given at the Atikokan Chamber of Commerce annual meeting in 2004, Minister Duncan also announced that the province would consider providing a unique rate plan for northwestern Ontario to ensure economic growth.  This, too, is not evident in the IPSP, nor in government policy.


In 2005, Minister Duncan claimed that Ontario Power Generation, the Ministry of Energy, will mitigate the economic impact on the local communities that have been planned -- that have planned coal-fired generating station closures.


In a letter to myself, Minister Duncan mentioned the potential conversion of AGS to alternative energy options, such as the burning of wood waste and peat.  Mr. Duncan also suggested in his letter that an external advisor was going to be hired, with resources from the provincial government, to investigate the conversion of the Atikokan generating station.  


Well, this advisor has been hired, he's done his work and he's gone, and there hasn't been one new job created.  We've identified some opportunities, but there's still a lot more to do.


By 2006, Minister of Energy Donna Cansfield

announced that no coal-fired generating station would be closed down before there was significant new generation online.  The provincial government made a commitment, in September of last year, to invest $4 million in the Atikokan Bio-Energy Research Centre to support six innovative projects that will include research and testing in northwestern Ontario.


It is expected that results from this research centre will help OPG understand the potential issues, costs and benefits of converting Atikokan generating station to other fuels.  That information could influence the ultimate fate of the station.  And, as I said, that's a two-year project, and it just started.  They just signed the agreements in October of last year, so it will be a while yet before the results are known.


There is no reference in the IPSP to these government initiatives, even though it was the same government, the same political party, that issued the Directive to the OPA that the OEB is having hearings on this week.  


Does the Ontario Power Authority not have a duty to address these issues in the plan?


Madam Chair, for this and all the other reasons outlined in Mr. Cyr's presentation, we would ask that the Ontario Energy Board send the OPA back to the drawing board to have another look this time at the plan, and that they do a comprehensive review of the needs of the northwest region, both current and in the future, while at the same time properly consulting with the people of northwestern Ontario.


Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to speak today.


MR. CYR:  And Madam Chair and Panel members, representing the third of our team of intervenors, Mayor Anne Krassilowsky, president of Northern Ontario Municipal Association, also Mayor of Dryden, will speak. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. KRASSILOWSKY:

MS. KRASSILOWSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Cyr, and good afternoon, Madam Chair and Panel.  The North Ontario Municipal Association is the voice of 35 municipalities, communities, towns and townships across the north.  We cover a huge land mass, as has been explained to you, and we have the majority of the people of northwestern Ontario that NOMA carries the voice for.


I'm here today to strongly support the submission of the City of Thunder Bay, the Town of Atikokan, and the Common Voice Energy Task Force as presented by Mr. Cyr and by my colleague Mayor Brown and Mr. Bosch.  This is indeed a collaborative effort and is a strong and extreme example of how the northwest works together at all times to pursue common goals.


I want to underline the unique nature of our area, as outlined to you in Mr. Cyr's presentation, by telling you the story of two of our communities.  Let me start with the small community of Pickle Lake.  


That's located about 250 miles northeast of my community, the City of Dryden, and we all are approximately 11 to 1,200 miles from where we sit at this table today.  It is at the end of one of the radial lines that John spoke of earlier in these submissions.


Pickle Lake is fed by a 115-kilovolt power line that comes across, as you saw on the map, from Ear Falls.  Pickle Lake's current capacity is 15 MW.  This line was built way back in the 1940s.  It's old and it's antiquated.  It is 156 miles long and has 2,275 structures, each of those structures with three cross arms.


You can only imagine what wind or lightning storm, the havoc that that can cause, to say nothing of the ice storms and the massive blow-down areas that we have throughout Ontario, and especially in northwestern Ontario.


The Musselwhite Mine, which is 90 miles north of Pickle Lake, draws upon Pickle Lake's electricity supply.  Musselwhite is a 4,000 tonne per day gold producer.


Further, the nearby Ozznaburg reserve also draws upon Pickle Lake's electricity supply, plus there are 22 First Nation reserves north of Pickle Lake, each with an average population of a thousand people, and all use Pickle Lake as their transportation and commercial hub.


These 22 reserves use diesel generators as their only source of electricity.  Most of that diesel goes in by the ice roads and the winter roads in the north, and only in the wintertime.


Right now, currently there is virtually no additional capacity in Pickle Lake, and right now they have only 3 MW available.  Both Musselwhite Mine and Richview Resources,  who is the owner of the past-producing Thierry diamond mine that is north of Pickle Lake, require more electricity, and they can't get it.


In order for Pickle Lake to meet the expected electricity demand in the next few months, they require a further 15 MW.  Without it, neither mine will develop, and no other economic development, such as -- which was previously discussed, the press wood paper mill, can even begin to happen.


According to one of my municipal colleagues in Pickle Lake, these are good news stories that are going to waste.  But that's not the whole story.


The Town of Pickle Lake has approximately 20 to 50 power outages a year, and typically it takes a minimum of 12 hours to restore that power, and sometimes longer.


For example, last year Pickle Lake suffered a 36-hour power outage.  The impact to human life up there of those outages, I can only ask you the sit right now and think what that means.  It was 30 below when I left Dryden.  It is 35 to 38 below for this weekend in Pickle Lake.  I don't know what you would begin to do without power.  And they have lived that way for years, to say nothing of the food and stuff that goes to waste in the summertimes.  


If you look at the road closures that happen there, or evacuations due to fire, or accidents, this has a tremendous, tremendous impact to that and a lot of other communities across northwestern Ontario.


Thanks to ongoing pressure from municipal officials, Hydro One has replaced over 500 poles on the line.  That line to Pickle Lake, that work has been done over the last five years, but if you think about the length of that line and what it means, at that rate it will take 20 years to complete.


Pickle Lake requires a loop line system to increase capacity and reliability to the area.  A loop line would provide for growth of the mining sector and forestry sector.  It would also allow for the connection of First Nation people, communities and reserves who are presently, as I've said, on diesel generators -- that would allow them to come up on the grid ask thereby promote economic development and an improved standard of living in those communities.


The bottom line is Pickle Lake's electricity supply is neither adequate nor reliable, just another example of life in northwestern Ontario.  


Let me now turn to talk of another of my neighbours, which is Red Lake.  As you probably know, Red Lake is one of the biggest gold mines in the world, and Red Lake is a northwestern community with a long history of viable mining operation.  Red Lake is located 134 miles northwest of Dryden, again on a single road up and down.


It is with its sister community of Balmertown, which is located another 4 miles to the north.  And thanks to last year's upgrade by Hydro One, for the first time in years the existing community is receiving a stable electricity supply.


Before 2007, three- to four-hour outages were not uncommon, with one outage that went on overnight, over 12 hours.


The main concern of Red Lake now, however, is the demand, of course, will surpass capacity in the short term.  Currently Red Lake's capacity at 57 MW can accommodate no more than two more mines.  They are presently using 40 MW.


A typical mine uses 5 to 10 MW, and they feel and see right now that one mine coming into production, possibly in as early as two to five years, the Gold Eagle Mine, and, realistically, there are two or three more mines that could also be up and running in those same years.  


In fact, I believe the head frame is on its way up on the one mine as we speak.


Plus, there is a value-added lumber mill being  constructed this year, and much mining exploration continues to go on in that area.  This value-added lumber mill, when you look at what that means, that's a First Nation, Aboriginal/non-Aboriginal group of people, including Red Lake, Dryden, Eagle Lake, and Wobegone Lake Ojibway Nation, along with the Kangecum.  


You know what the forestry industry faces today and what we face in northwestern Ontario and the lost jobs that are there and that impact to the family.  Being able to construct that mill and have the power to run it is absolutely essential to those lives that are so affected in northwestern Ontario.


In the short term, Red Lake, its neighbour Balmertown, and the surrounding area will likely surpass its capacity.  I am told by Red Lake municipal officials that Hydro One analysis confirms that Red Lake's capacity in the near term may be exceeded.


The big concern is that to increase Red Lake's capacity, the process to install the transmission upgrades - i.e., environmental assessments, et cetera - will take many years, and it is important to appreciate that during this wait, mining options may cost $50 to $100 million.  And, of course, that will not be economically feasible to even begin to develop those mines.


Another concern now in Red Lake is the Hydro One policy of user pay recovery, which passes on some of that transmission cost to the main user, which is again a further discouragement to economic development in northwestern Ontario.  When we contacted Red Lake on Thursday, they indicated that they had been in regular contact with Hydro One about their circumstances, and yet no one had informed them about the IPSP nor the OEB hearings.  


These are just two of the examples of what IPSP needs to address if it is to work for the northwest, the people, and industry.


I guess my plea would be to ask you to consider the lives of the people.  We've talked about industry and what it means, but this affects lives and jobs and communities, and the closing of those doors for people who have been there for generations upon generations.  It's a way of life.  And we don't want to see that disappear.  


And electricity plays a great, great part in the economic feasibility and the lives of these communities, the people.  We have families who are going 1,000 to 1,500 miles away.  They phone to kiss their children good night at night, because they can't even afford to sell their homes to move away.  And electricity and energy plays a big part, a huge part, in bringing those people home.


I would respectfully ask that this portion of the IPSP that pertains to northwestern Ontario be sent back to the drawing board to prepare a plan that is done for the northwest and in conjunction with the people of northwestern Ontario.


Thank you.  Thank you, John.


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CYR:

MR. CYR:  Thank you, Anne.  That concludes our submission, Madam Chair and Panel members.  Let me say in closing, however, that, although we have been critical of the IPSP, without doubt the Ontario Power Authority has a huge task in attempting to develop for the first time a comprehensive plan.  


That they have gone this far is an absolutely commendable achievement, and we don't intend to lose sight of that.  We are simply pointing out that in terms of process, going forward, it will make more sense if we can hive off a plan to be developed for northwestern Ontario that meets the peculiar circumstances of that region that don't pertain in the region that is southern Ontario. 


There simply are so many substantive differences between the two regions that to attempt to consider them on the same criteria, the same as to what needs to be done and how it needs to be done is impractical.  They are so very different.  They are apples and oranges.


So the first alternative would be the most desirable, to send the plan back to the drawing board.  It's a good start, but it needs work; failing that, if you're so disposed, then addition of the indicated issue to the Issues List.


And in closing, then, Madam Chair, we're not all negative.  We would be delighted if the Panel chose to sit in Thunder Bay or anywhere else in northwestern Ontario, visit the region.  It will take more than a day.  


Understand that northwestern Ontario goes all the way from Lake Superior to Hudson's Bay.  To get there, we would want you to take commercial aircraft, rather than a chartered plane.  And you'll understand that Grand Chief Stan Beardy, who unfortunately was unable to make his presentation today, is used to travelling a day-and-a-half to get to Toronto, biplanes, small and uncomfortable.  


And many of those reserves then are still -- reserve communities are still many hundreds of kilometres from the actual coast of Hudson's Bay.


We are hospitable, though, and we'd be delighted to have the Panel sit in Thunder Bay at some point during its deliberations.


Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cyr.  We may have some questions.  Mr. Crocker?


QUESTIONS BY BOARD STAFF:

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I just have one.  It's a question of the mayors.  Are the issues -- are the concerns which you raised, would they be satisfied if the Board were to include as an issue to be discussed at the hearing the issue which Mr. Cyr put forward?


MR. BROWN:  Yes.  We've worked with Mr. Cyr on his presentation, and we're very supportive of what he said. 
QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

MR. BALSILLIE:  Thank you.  First of all, I want to express the Panel's appreciation for your travelling in the other direction, south, to be with us here in Toronto.  I visit the northwest at least once a month for meetings in Thunder Bay, so I have some appreciation of the travel situation, and I have spent nights in Balmertown.


With regard to the load and the 990, which is listed as the current load, is that in fact the current load, or is it much lower than that as a result of the shutdown of numerous mills in northwestern Ontario?


MR. BOSCH:  The current load right now is around 750 megawatts, but, as we speak, one paper mill has just signed to come back into life - that will be a 40 megawatt load - by April, and another one is in the process of -- it seems once you get away from the large conglomerate companies and sold to smaller ones, they come back to life.  


And that's saying -- that's part of the cyclic nature of the pulp and paper industries.  But, yes, we're down right now to about 720 megawatts, and as soon as the US gets going, the northwest will get going, because it depends an awful lot on the forest industry.


MR. CYR:  Further to that answer, the fact we didn't bring out is that the forestry industry is the second largest industry in the Province of Ontario.  It is in a down cycle, in a perfect storm, but the forest is still there and the market is still there, and it will revive.


MR. BALSILLIE:  Thank you.  I guess I would ask you what you thought of the potential of new technology, vis-a-vis, say, biomass, since you do have the forest and you do have material that could be created into bioenergy, and whether you gave that a lot of consideration in your development of your ideas here today.


MR. CYR:  I think what we would need is a viable proposal as to how that would replace the two components that we spoke of, of generation, the megawatts and the inertia.


MR. BALSILLIE:  Okay.  And my last question.  You have referred to the involvement of First Nations.  Has your task force or have you, as NOMA, had meetings with the First Nations?  And you mentioned Stan Beardy.  He has an office right in Thunder Bay.  


Have you had discussions with First Nations?


MR. CYR:  I believe that NOMA has had some discussions.


MS. KRASSILOWSKY:  Sir, NOMA has actually invited Grand Chief Stan Beardy of Treaty 9 and Ogichidaa Gardner of Treaty 3 to come to the table and be a part of the task force, because our issues are very much the same.


MR. BALSILLIE:  Having invited them, have they responded?


MS. KRASSILOWSKY:  They've sent letters, and we've had meetings with them to see how they fit into the provincial picture as we bring it to the table versus their position in the federal government.  But, yes, we do have a member of -- that sat at the table from Treaty 9; is that right?  Harvey Yes-No.  


And Ogichidaa Gardner from Treaty 3 is in the process.  And we just met again on Monday to see who will represent.  There is a different governance structure there between Treaty 3 and Treaty 9 --


MR. BALSILLIE:  Right.


MS. KRASSILOWSKY:  -- and how they will come to the table.


MR. BALSILLIE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Mayor Krassilowsky, Mayor Brown, Mr. Cyr, Mr. Bosch, Mr. McLeod, I also want to thank you for travelling such a distance and doing such an admirable job of explaining your region, the people and their concerns.  So thank you very much. 


That adjourns our proceeding for today.  We will resume tomorrow morning at nine o'clock.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:01 p.m.
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